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IMPORTANT INFORMATION
This Information Document has been prepared solely by the Company in connection with the Admission. The purpose of the
Information Document is to provide information about the Company and its business. This Information Document has been prepared
solely in the English language.
Euronext Growth is subject to the rules in the Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 29 June 2007 no 75 (as amended) (the "Norwegian
Securities Trading Act") and the Norwegian Securities Trading Regulations of 29 June 2007 no 876 (as amended) (the "Norwegian
Securities Trading Regulation") that apply to such marketplaces. These rules apply to companies admitted to trading on Euronext
Growth, as do the marketplace's own rules, which are less comprehensive than the rules and regulations that apply to companies
listed on Oslo Børs and Euronext Expand. Euronext Growth is not a regulated market.
For definitions of terms used throughout this Information Document, please refer to Section 14 ("Definitions and glossary of terms").
The Company has engaged ABG Sundal Collier ASA and Nordea Bank Abp, filial i Norge as its advisors in connection with its Admission
to Euronext Growth (the "Euronext Advisors"). This Information Document has been prepared to comply with the Admission to
Trading Rules for Euronext Growth (the "Euronext Growth Admission Rules") and the Content Requirements for Information
Documents for Euronext Growth (the "Euronext Growth Content Requirements"). Oslo Børs ASA has not approved or reviewed
this Information Document or verified its content.
All inquiries relating to this Information Document should be directed to the Company or the Euronext Advisors. No other person has
been authorized to give any information, or make any representation, on behalf of the Company and/or the Euronext Advisors in
connection with the Admission, if given or made, such other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been
authorized by the Company and/or the Euronext Advisors.
The information contained herein is current as of the date hereof and subject to change, completion or amendment without notice.
There may have been changes affecting the Company subsequent to the date of this Information Document. Any new material
information and any material inaccuracy that might have an effect on the assessment of the Shares arising after the publication of
this Information Document and before the Admission will be published and announced promptly in accordance with the Euronext
Growth regulations. Neither the delivery of this Information Document nor the completion of the Admission at any time after the date
hereof will, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the Company's affairs since the date
hereof or that the information set forth in this Information Document is correct as of any time since its date.
The contents of this Information Document shall not be construed as legal, business or tax advice. Each reader of this Information
Document should consult with its own legal, business or tax advisor as to legal, business or tax advice. If you are in any doubt about
the contents of this Information Document, you should consult with your stockbroker, bank manager, lawyer, accountant or other
professional advisor.
The distribution of this Information Document in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons in possession of this
Information Document are required to inform themselves about, and to observe, any such restrictions. No action has been taken or
will be taken in any jurisdiction by the Company that would permit the possession or distribution of this Information Document in any
country or jurisdiction where specific action for that purpose is required.
The Shares may be subject to restrictions on transferability and resale and may not be transferred or resold except as permitted
under applicable securities laws and regulations. Any failure to comply with these restrictions may constitute a violation of the
securities laws of any such jurisdiction. Investors should be aware that they may be required to bear the financial risks of this
investment for an indefinite period of time.
This Information Document shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law. The courts of Norway, with Oslo
District Court (Nw.: Oslo tingrett) as legal venue, shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute which may arise out of or in
connection with the Information Document.
Investing in the Company's Shares involves risks. Please refer to Section 1 ("Risk factors").
INFORMATION TO DISTRIBUTORS
Solely for the purposes of the product governance requirements contained within: (a) EU Directive 2014/65/EU on markets in financial
instruments, as amended ("MiFID II"); (b) Articles 9 and 10 of Commission Delegated Directive (EU) 2017/593 supplementing MiFID
II; and (c) local implementing measures (together, the "MiFID II Product Governance Requirements"), and disclaiming all and
any liability, which any "manufacturer" (for the purposes of the MiFID II Product Governance Requirements) may otherwise have with
respect thereto, the Shares have been subject to a product approval process, which has determined that they each are: (i) compatible
with an end target market of retail investors and investors who meet the criteria of professional clients and eligible counterparties,
each as defined in MiFID II (the "Positive Target Market"); and (ii) eligible for distribution through all distribution channels as are
permitted by MiFID II (the "Appropriate Channels for Distribution"). Notwithstanding the Target Market Assessment, distributors
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should note that: the price of the Shares may decline and investors could lose all or part of their investment; the Shares offer no
guaranteed income and no capital protection; and an investment in the Shares is compatible only with investors who do not need a
guaranteed income or capital protection, who (either alone or in conjunction with an appropriate financial or other adviser) are capable
of evaluating the merits and risks of such an investment and who have sufficient resources to be able to bear any losses that may
result therefrom. Conversely, an investment in the Shares is not compatible with investors looking for full capital protection or full
repayment of the amount invested or having no risk tolerance, or investors requiring a fully guaranteed income or fully predictable
return profile (the "Negative Target Market", and, together with the Positive Target Market, the "Target Market Assessment").
For the avoidance of doubt, the Target Market Assessment does not constitute: (a) an assessment of suitability or appropriateness
for the purposes of MiFID II; or (b) a recommendation to any investor or group of investors to invest in, or purchase, or take any
other action whatsoever with respect to the Shares.
Each distributor is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Shares and determining appropriate
distribution channels.
ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES
The Company is a private limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Norway. As a result, the rights of holders of the
Shares will be governed by Norwegian law and the Company's articles of association (the "Articles of Association"). The rights of
shareholders under Norwegian law may differ from the rights of shareholders of companies incorporated in other jurisdictions.
The members of the Company's board of directors (the "Board Members" and the "Board of Directors", respectively) and the
members of the Group's senior management (the "Management") are not residents of the United States of America (the "United
States"), and the Company's assets are located outside the United States. As a result, it may be very difficult for investors in the
United States to effect service of process on the Company, the Board Members and members of Management in the United States or
to enforce judgments obtained in U.S. courts against the Company or those persons, whether predicated upon civil liability provisions
of federal securities laws or other laws of the United States (including any State or territory within the United States).
The United States and Norway do not currently have a treaty providing for reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgements
(other than arbitral awards) in civil and commercial matters. Uncertainty exists as to whether courts in Norway will enforce judgments
obtained in other jurisdictions, including the United States, against the Company or its Board Members or members of Management
under the securities laws of those jurisdictions or entertain actions in Norway against the Company or its Board Members or members
of Management under the securities laws of other jurisdictions. In addition, awards of punitive damages in actions brought in the
United States or elsewhere may not be enforceable in Norway.
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1

RISK FACTORS

Investing in the Shares involves inherent risks. Before making an investment decision, investors should carefully
consider the risk factors and all information contained in this Information Document, including the Financial
Information and related notes. The risks and uncertainties described in this Section 1 ("Risk factors") are the principal
known risks and uncertainties faced by the Group as of the date hereof that the Company believes are the material
risks relevant to an investment in the Shares. An investment in the Shares is suitable only for investors who
understand the risks associated with this type of investment and who can afford a loss of all or part of their
investment. The absence of a negative past experience associated with a given risk factor does not mean that the
risks and uncertainties described herein should not be considered prior to making an investment decision.
If any of the risks were to materialize, individually or together with other circumstances, it could have a material and
adverse effect on the Group and/or its business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and/or prospects,
which may cause a decline in the value of the Shares that could result in a loss of all or part of any investment in
the Shares. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only risks the Group may face. Additional risks
and uncertainties that the Company currently believes are immaterial, or that are currently not known to the
Company, may also have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flow. The order in which the risks are presented below is not intended to provide an indication of the
likelihood of their occurrence nor of their severity or significance.
The risk factors described in this Section 1 ("Risk factors") are sorted into a limited number categories, where the
Company has sought to place each individual risk factor in the most appropriate category based on the nature of the
risk it represents. This does not mean that the remaining risk factors are ranked in order of their materiality or
comprehensibility, and the fact that a risk factor is not mentioned first in its category does not in any way suggest
that the risk factor is less important when taking an informed investment decision. The risks mentioned herein could
materialise individually or cumulatively.
The information in this Section 1 ("Risk factors") is as of the date of this Information Document.
1.1

Risk related to the business and industry in which the Group operates

1.1.1

The market in which the Group competes is highly competitive, and the Group might not be able to
compete successfully

The Group operates in a highly competitive market and competes with a variety of public and private competitors
that offer the same educational services within the fields of education and work. The Group's success depends on
numerous factors, including its ability to successfully market and sell its educational products and services, its ability
to develop and introduce new products and services and its ability to identify and develop market opportunities. If
the Group is unable to compete successfully, it may result in a reduction of the Group's student levels and the Group
could lose market share to competitors, which could adversely affect the Group's business, results of operations,
financial condition, cash flows and/or prospects.
1.1.2

The Group's success depends upon its ability to attract new students, retain existing students and
development of new study programmes

The Group depends on its ability to offer good-quality education products and services, including its continued ability
to stay updated on inter alia contemporary teaching methods and digitalization, etc. in order to attract new students
and retain existing students. Furthermore, to stay relevant and secure further growth, they may need to adjust and
establish new courses and study programmes within Bjørknes Høyskole especially. Any failure to do so could lead to
loss of students and consequently a basis of income. This could affect the Group's business and consequently its
profitability.
1.1.3

The Group is dependent on goodwill, its brand and reputation and on maintaining good relationships with
key stakeholders such as students, teachers, other employees and public authorities

The Group relies on, among other things, goodwill, its brand, reputation and on maintaining good relationships with
key stakeholders such as students, teachers, other employees and public authorities. Negative publicity related to
the Group could, regardless of its truthfulness, adversely affect the Group's brand, reputation and goodwill. Negative
reputational publicity may arise from a broad variety of causes, including incidents and occurrences outside the
Group's control, for example due to any incidents caused by the buyer of Sonans Karriere AS which is entitled to use
the name "Sonans Karriere" and its accompanying logo until 30 June 2021. No assurance can be given that such
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incidents will not occur in the future, which may cause negative publicity about the operations of the Group, which
in turn could have an adverse effect on the Group's results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and/or
prospects.
Negative publicity could further jeopardize the Group's relationships with key stakeholders or diminish the Group's
ability to attract and retain skilled personnel. In addition, negative publicity could cause any students of the Group
to demand educational products and services from the Group's competitors, and thus decrease the demand for the
Group's products and services in the future. Any circumstances that publicly damage the Group's goodwill, injure the
Group's reputation or damage the Group's business relationships, may lead to a broader adverse effect in addition
to any monetary liability arising directly from the damaging events by way of loss of business, goodwill, students,
and employees as the reputation of an education provider is important for maintaining continued strong student
intake.
Further, any obligation to change the Group's current brands may lead to a decline in brand awareness and
recognition, and result in a decrease of the demand for the Group's products and services in the future, including
that the Group must cease to use or display any company names, trademarks, service marks, logos, symbols and
designs that include (in whole or in part) the term "Bjørknes" and the symbol used by the Bjørknes companies by 31
December 2021, which could have an adverse effect on the Group's results of operations, financial condition, cash
flows and/or prospects.
1.1.4

Dependence upon key intellectual property

The Group's success depends in part on its ability to protect its rights in its intellectual property. The Group relies
upon various intellectual property protections, including inter alia copyright, trademarks, and contractual provisions,
to preserve its intellectual property rights. The steps which the Group has taken and intends to take to protect its
intellectual property may however prove to be inadequate to prevent the misappropriation of its intellectual property,
including due to for example lack of contractual provisions in employment agreements with teachers and managers.
Further, despite any precautions made by the Group, it may be possible for third parties to obtain and use the Group's
intellectual property without its authorisation.
1.1.5

The Group may not be able to attract and retain management and skilled teachers with appropriate
experience and expertise

The Group's success depends on the services of highly qualified personnel, especially teachers, and management
with appropriate experience and expertise, as the Group is dependent on such persons for the successful
implementation of its products and services. Loss of key personnel, especially teachers, and management could
therefore have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operation, cash flows, financial condition
and/or prospects.
Further, the Group's future development is dependent on its ability to attract, retain and develop skilled personnel
and to develop the level of expertise throughout the Group's organization. If the Group is unable to attract and retain
skilled personnel, this could therefore have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operation,
cash flows, financial condition and/or prospects.
1.1.6

The Group may experience potential disruptions or failures in its IT infrastructure

The Group depends on functioning information technology systems across its operations to manage critical business
processes, including administrative and financial functions. Any downtime of network servers, attacks by IT viruses,
other disruptions or failure of information technology systems are possible and could have an adverse effect on the
Group's financial position. Further, insufficient IT strategies and documentation of IT systems and strategies may
result in failure of the Group's information technology systems which could cause transaction errors and disruption
to the Group's business. The Group has and will continue to upgrade and maintain its information technology systems,
which may imply unanticipated disruptions or costs of tailoring or transmission to new systems. Each such risk could
adversely affect the Group's business.
1.1.7

The Group may have made or may in the future make acquisitions that prove unsuccessful or divert the
Group's resources

The Group may consider making strategic acquisitions to support growth and profitability. For example, the Group
most recently acquired Bjørknes Høyskole, and the transaction was concluded in 2019. Successful growth through
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acquisitions is dependent upon inter alia the Group's ability to identify suitable acquisition targets, conduct
appropriate due diligence, negotiate transactions on favourable terms, obtain required licenses and authorisations
and successfully integrate acquired entities. The integration of acquired businesses may require management effort,
time and resources which could divert management’s focus from other strategic opportunities and operational
matters. There can be no assurance that the Group will be able to successfully integrate any businesses acquired, or
otherwise realise anticipated benefits of any acquisition made.
1.1.8

Following the current global crisis due to the outbreak of Covid-19, the Group sees an even stronger
shift from onsite to online, especially within Sonans Utdanning

The current outbreak of 2019 coronavirus (COVID-19) has resulted in a global pandemic and has severely impacted
companies and markets globally. It is currently not possible to predict all the consequences for the Group, its business
partners, or the industry in which the Group operates or global business and markets, however the Groups sees a
continued trend shift from onsite to online especially within Sonans Utdanning. Currently this could have an impact
on the periodisation of revenues, as the revenue recognition of online is done over 12 months whereas onsite is done
over the applicable semester - and profitability. As the price of online currently is lower than for onsite, profitability
may be hampered short term but in the longer term an increased share of online students is expected to have a
positive impact on margins. The future of the Group and its business, including the ability for the Group to realise its
current plans are therefore more uncertain under such circumstances. The occurrence of an epidemic or pandemic is
beyond the Group’s control and there is no assurance that any future outbreak of COVID-19 or other contagious
diseases occurring in areas in which the Group or customers operate, or even in areas in which the Group do not
operate, will not seriously interrupt the Group’s business. Such event could have a material adverse effect on the
Group business, results of operations and/or financial condition.
1.1.9

Change of control provisions in the Group's lease agreements

Certain of the Group's lease agreements are subject to change of control provisions that may be triggered by changes
of control in the Company including in connection with the Private Placement. Failure to receive necessary consents
or waivers for any reason upon a change of control could result in the loss of contractual rights and benefits, or the
termination of lease agreements, any of which could have a material and adverse effect on the Group's business,
results of operations and financial condition.
1.2

Legal and regulatory risk

1.2.1

The Group is subject to risks relating to changes in laws, regulations and is dependent on permits and
approvals to operate its business

The Group is subject to a wide variety of national laws and regulations in relation to its operations. Any breach of
laws can be costly and expose the Group to liability and any change in law can adversely affect the Group's cost,
manner or feasibility of doing business. Furthermore, the Group is reliant on certain permits and approvals, including
accreditation from Norwegian Agency for Quality Assurance in Education ("NOKUT") for certain of its study programs,
from governmental authorities for its operations. The Group’s dependency on such permits and approvals represents
considerable risks and if the Group does not obtain the necessary permits and approvals that it requires to operate
its business, it may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operations and/or financial results.
1.2.2

A change in the laws and regulations regarding tax and other duties/charges could result in higher tax
expense and duties/charges for the Group

The Group is and will be subject to prevailing tax laws and other duties/charges and regulations and the interpretation
and enforcement thereof. Changes in laws and regulations regarding tax and other duties/charges, including, but not
limited to, VAT, could involve new and changed parameters applicable to the Group and taxation of/charges for the
Group at higher levels than as of the date hereof and the Group's business, earnings and cash flows from operations
and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.
1.2.3

The Group could be subject to litigation, disputes and claims

The Group may in the future be involved from time to time in litigation, disputes and claims. The operating hazards
inherent in the Group's business may expose the Group to, amongst other things, litigation, including contractual
litigation, intellectual property litigation, tax or securities litigation, as well as other litigation that arises in the
ordinary course of business. No assurance can be given that the Group is not exposed to claims, litigation and
compliance risks, which could expose the Group to losses and liabilities. Such claims, disputes and proceedings are
subject to uncertainty, and their outcomes are often difficult to predict. Adverse regulatory action or judgment in
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litigation could result in sanctions of various types for the Group, including, but not limited to, the payment of fines,
damages or other amounts, the invalidation of contracts, restrictions or limitations on the Group's operations, any of
which could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and/or
prospects.
1.2.4

Failure to comply with data protection and privacy regulations could materially and adversely affect the
Group

In the provision of its services, the Group collects and processes personal data about its students and employees.
The Group's processing of personal data is subject to complex and evolving laws and regulations regarding data
protection and privacy, including but not limited to the General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (GDPR) in
the EU/EEA incorporated in Norwegian law through the Personal Data Act of 15 June 2018 no. 38 (as amended).
Although the Group has adopted measures to ensure compliance with data protection laws, such measures may not
always be adequate. The Group may incur civil or criminal liability in case of infringement of data protection laws
and failure to comply with data protection laws may affect the Group's reputation and brands negatively, which may
affect the Group's business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and/or prospects.
1.2.5

The Group is exposed to political risks being a private provider of public services

Private providers of public services are subject to political scrutiny in Norway, as in most countries, and such public
services may inter alia include education. In Norway, the operating regulations for private educators is based on a
principle that private institutions are allowed to operate for profit provided that the private institution does not receive
any direct public funding. The Group does not receive any direct public funding, and thus is permitted to operate for
profit. The Group is however exposed to the risk of future restrictions in the private candidate scheme, which today
allows everyone to sign up for a private candidate exam and thus obtain a high school diploma. Further, the Group
is exposed to the risk that Statens Lånekasse for Utdanning (a public administrative body providing financial supports
to students) stops funding private candidates and also students at private colleges, or otherwise changes the terms
of such funding. For example, there is currently a public consultation ongoing to consider changing the current
practice pursuant to which Statens Lånekasse for Utdanning is For example, there is currently a public consultation
ongoing to consider changing the current practice pursuant to which Statens Lånekasse for Utdanning is converting,
subject to successful completion of the private candidate exam, part of the student loan granted to cover costs of
living into grants. Loans for tuition are currently not converted, and as such not potentially affected by the outcome
of the ongoing public consultation, and the ongoing public consultation only relates to private candidates attempting
to improve grades in courses where they already have a passing grade. For private colleges like Bjørknes Høyskole,
another potential risk is future stricter dividend regulations for colleges without direct public funding. In turn, these
risks may, collectively or individually, materially affect the Group's business, results of operations, cash flows,
financial condition and/or prospects.
1.3

Risk related to the Group's financial situation

1.3.1

Loan obligations

The Group has a loan facility where requirements are set for the financial condition and actions (covenants) for the
Group and/or a Group company, such as maximum leverage requirements, dividend restrictions and change of control
provisions. Further, as security for its loan obligations, the Group has provided guarantees, pledged its shares in a
number of subsidiaries, its material operating assets and monetary claims under certain intra-group loan agreements
in favour of the relevant finance parties. No guarantee can be given that the Group will meet all covenants at any
time, or that the finance parties will waive one or more to avoid a breach. This can mean that loan repayments are
accelerated by the finance parties who can force a refinancing or sale of property, or otherwise enforce its pledges,
to cover the loan.
1.3.2

Interest rate fluctuations

A high proportion of the Group's debt is bank debt and will thus be exposed to interest rate fluctuation. Periods of
rapid increases in interest rates will entail a negative impact on the Group's cash flows, valuations of underlying
assets and results. The outlook for the long-term interest rate paths will also affect the value development of the
portfolio return investors can expect.
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1.3.3

The Group may have difficulty accessing liquidity and/or financing in sufficient time, on acceptable
terms, or at all

There is a risk that cash flow fluctuates, and the Group fails in assessing and monitoring the funds needed for its
operations and there is also a risk that the Group will not have sufficient cash flow and liquidity to finance its
operations and future growth as well as for the payments of its debt as they fall due. If the Group's operating income
is not sufficient to service its current or future indebtedness, the Group may be forced to take actions such as
reducing or delaying its business activities, acquisitions, investments or capital expenditures, selling assets,
restructuring or refinancing its debt or seeking additional equity. There is a risk that the Group may not be able to
affect any of these remedies on satisfactory terms, or at all.
1.3.4

Future debt arrangements could limit the Group's liquidity and flexibility

Any future debt arrangements could limit the Group's liquidity and flexibility in obtaining additional financing and/or
in pursuing other business opportunities. Further, the Group's future ability to obtain bank financing or to access the
capital markets for any future debt or equity offerings may be limited by the Group's financial condition at the time
of such financing or offering, as well as by adverse market conditions related to, for example, general economic
conditions and contingencies and uncertainties that are beyond the Group's control. Failure by the Group to obtain
funds for future capital expenditures could impact the Group's results, financial condition, cash flows and/or
prospects.
1.4

Risks relating to the Shares and the Admission

1.4.1

An active trading market for the Company's shares on Euronext Growth may not develop and the market
price of the Shares may be volatile

The Company's Shares are not currently tradable on any stock exchange, other regulated marketplace or multilateral
trading facility. No assurances can be given that an active trading market for the Shares will develop on Euronext
Growth, nor sustain if an active trading market is developed. The market value of the Shares could be substantially
affected by the extent to which a secondary market develops for the Shares following completion of the Admission.
An investment in the Shares involves risk of loss of capital, and securities markets in general have been volatile in
the past. The trading volume and price of the Shares may fluctuate significantly in response to a number of factors
beyond the Company's control, including adverse business developments and prospects, variations in revenue and
operating results, changes in financial estimates, announcements by the Company or its competitors of new
development or new circumstances within the industry, legal actions against the Group, unforeseen events and
liabilities, changes in management, changes to the composition of shareholders, changes to the regulatory
environment in which the Group will operate or general market conditions. The market value of the Shares could also
be substantially affected by the extent to which a secondary market develops or sustains for the Shares.
1.4.2

Future offerings of debt or equity securities by the Company may adversely affect the market price of
the Shares and lead to substantial dilution of existing shareholders

The Company has no current plans for an offering of Shares or other share capital, however, the Company may in
the future seek to raise capital through offerings of debt securities (potentially including convertible debt securities)
or additional equity securities in connection with future acquisitions, in connection with unanticipated liabilities or
expenses, for growth, or for any other purposes. An issuance of additional equity securities or securities with rights
to convert into equity could reduce the market price for the Shares and would dilute the economic and voting rights
of the existing shareholders if made without granting subscription rights to existing shareholders. There can be no
assurance that the Company will not decide to conduct further offerings of securities in the future, and because the
time and nature of any future offering will depend on market conditions at the time of such an offering, the Company
cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of any future offering. Accordingly, the shareholders bear
the risk of any future offerings reducing the market price of the Shares and/or diluting their shareholdings in the
Company.
1.4.3

Future sales, or the possibility for future sales, of Shares after the Admission may affect the market
price of the Shares

The Company cannot predict what effect, if any, future sales of the Shares, or the availability of Shares for future
sales, will have on the market price of the Shares. Sales of substantial amounts of the Shares in the public market
following the Admission, including by the major shareholders, or the perception that such sales could occur, could
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adversely affect the market price of the Shares, making it more difficult for holders to sell their Shares at a time and
price that they deem appropriate.
Although the Company and its shareholders have agreed with the Euronext Advisors to restrictions, subject to certain
exceptions, on their ability to sell or transfer Shares for a period of up to 12 months after the first day of trading,
the Euronext Advisors may, in their sole discretion and at any time, waive such restrictions on sales or transfer during
this period. Following the expiry of the applicable lock-up period, or the waiver of the lock-up restrictions by the
Euronext Advisors, the Company’s shareholders who were subject to lock-up may sell Shares in the open market or
otherwise, subject to applicable securities laws restrictions. There can be no assurance that such parties will not sell
Shares or effect other transactions upon the expiry of the applicable lock-up period or the waiver of the lock-up
restrictions and the Company cannot predict the effect, if any, that future sales of Shares, or the availability of the
Shares for future sale, will have on the market price of the Shares.
During the periods immediately prior to and following the end of the periods of sales restriction provided for by these
lockup arrangements, the market price of the Shares may fall in anticipation of a sale of Shares. Any sales of
substantial amounts of Shares in the public market, or the perception or any announcement that such sales might
occur, could result in a material adverse effect on the market price of the Shares and could impair the Group’s ability
to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities.
1.4.4

Investors could be unable to exercise their voting rights for Shares registered in a nominee account

Beneficial owners of the Shares that are registered in a nominee account (such as through brokers, dealers or other
third parties) could be unable to vote such Shares unless their ownership is re-registered in their names with the
VPS prior to any General Meeting. There is no assurance that beneficial owners of the Shares will receive the notice
of any General Meeting in time to instruct their nominees to either effect a re-registration of their Shares or otherwise
vote their Shares in the manner desired by such beneficial owners.
1.4.5

Norwegian law could limit shareholders’ ability to bring an action against the Company

The rights of holders of the Shares are governed by Norwegian law and by the Articles of Association. These rights
may differ from the rights of shareholders in other jurisdictions. In particular, Norwegian law limits the circumstances
under which shareholders of Norwegian companies may bring derivative actions. For example, under Norwegian law,
any action brought by the Company in respect of wrongful acts committed against the Company will be prioritised
over actions brought by shareholders claiming compensation in respect of such acts. In addition, it could be difficult
to prevail in a claim against the Company under, or to enforce liabilities predicated upon, securities laws in other
jurisdictions.
1.4.6

The value of the Shares could for foreign investors be adversely affected by exchange rate fluctuations

The Shares on Euronext Growth will be priced in NOK, and any future payments of dividends on the Shares will be
made in NOK. Investors registered in the VPS who have not supplied the VPS with details of their bank account, will
not receive payment of dividends unless they register their bank account details with the VPS Registrar. The exchange
rate(s) that is applied when denominating any future payments of dividends to the relevant investor's currency will
be the VPS Registrar's exchange rate on the payment date. Exchange rate movements of NOK will therefore affect
the value of these dividends and distributions for investors whose principal currency is not NOK. Further, the market
value of the Shares as expressed in foreign currencies will fluctuate in part as a result of foreign exchange
fluctuations. This could affect the value of the Shares and of any dividends paid on the Shares for an investor whose
principal currency is not NOK.
1.4.7

The Shares are subject to restrictions on dividend payments

Norwegian law provides that any declaration of dividends must be adopted by the Company's General Meeting.
Dividends may only be declared to the extent that the Company has distributable funds and the Board of Directors
finds such a declaration to be prudent in consideration of the size, nature, scope and risks associated with the
Company's operations and the need to maintain its liquidity and financial position. Accordingly, the size of any future
dividend from the Company to the Shareholders is dependent on a number of factors, such as the Company's business
development, results, financial position, cash flow, available liquidity and need for working capital. There are many
risks that may affect the Company's earnings, and there can be no guarantee that the Company will be able to
present results that enable distribution of dividends to the Shareholders in the future. If no dividend is distributed,
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the Shareholders' return on investment in the Company will solely generate on the basis of the development of the
share price.
1.4.8

The transfer of Shares is subject to restrictions under the securities laws of the United States and other
jurisdictions

None of the Shares have been registered under the US Securities Act of 1933 (as amended) (the "US Securities
Act") or any US state securities laws or any other jurisdiction outside of Norway and are not expected to be registered
in the future. As such, the Shares may not be offered or sold except pursuant to an exemption from, or in transactions
not subject to, the registration requirements of the US Securities Act and other applicable securities laws. In addition,
there is no assurances that shareholders residing or domiciled in the United States will be able to participate in future
capital increases or rights offerings. Further, investors in the United States and other jurisdictions may have difficulty
enforcing any judgment obtained in their local jurisdiction against the Company or its directors or executive officers
in Norway.
1.4.9

Majority shareholder risk

A concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying, deterring or preventing a change of control of the
Company that could be economically beneficial to other shareholders. Further, the interests of shareholders exerting
a significant influence over the Company may not in all matters be aligned with the interests of the Company and
the other shareholders of the Company.
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2

RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE INFORMATION DOCUMENT

This Information Document has been prepared solely in connection with the Admission on Euronext Growth.
We declare that, to the best of our knowledge, the information provided in the Information Document is fair and
accurate and that, to the best of our knowledge, the Information Document is not subject to any material omissions,
and that all relevant information is included in the Information Document.

16 February 2021
The Board of Directors of Sonans Holding AS

____________________
Helge Midttun
(Chairperson)

____________________

____________________

Erik Brandt
(Board Member)

Patrik Johnson

____________________
Adam Frahm

(Board Member)

(Board Member)
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3

GENERAL INFORMATION

3.1

Other important investor information

The Company has furnished the information in this Information Document. No representation or warranty, express
or implied, is made by the Euronext Advisors as to the accuracy, completeness or verification of the information set
forth herein, and nothing contained in this Information Document is, or shall be relied upon as a promise or
representation in this respect, whether as to the past or the future. The Euronext Advisors assumes no responsibility
for the accuracy or completeness or the verification of this Information Document and accordingly disclaim, to the
fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any and all liability whether arising in tort, contract or otherwise which it
might otherwise be found to have in respect of this Information Document or any such statement.
Neither the Company nor the Euronext Advisors, or any of their respective affiliates, representatives, advisors or
selling agents, is making any representation to any purchaser of the Shares regarding the legality of an investment
in the Shares. Each investor should consult with his or her own advisors as to the legal, tax, business, financial and
related aspects of a purchase of the Shares.
3.2

Presentation of financial and other information

3.2.1

Financial information

The Company's audited consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019 (the "Financial Statements") have been prepared in accordance with Norwegian Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles ("NGAAP") and the Norwegian Accounting Act of 17 July 1998 no 56 (the
"Norwegian Accounting Act") (Nw.: regnskapsloven). The Financial Statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS.
The Company presents the Financial Statements in NOK (presentation currency). Reference is made to Section 8
("Selected financial information and other information") for selected information from the Company's Financial
Statements.
3.2.2

Alternative performance measures

In order to enhance investors' understanding of the Group's performance, the Company presents in this Information
Document certain alternative performance measures ("APMs") as defined by the European Securities and Markets
Authority ("ESMA") in the ESMA Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures 2015/1057.
An APM is defined as a financial measure of historical or future financial performance, financial position, or cash
flows, other than a financial measure defined or specific in the applicable financial reporting framework (NGAAP).
The APMs presented herein have been used in the Information Document, as well as in marketing material presented
to prospective institutional investors and analysts in connection with the Private Placement, and it is the Group's
view that the APMs provide investors with relevant and specific operating figures which may enhance their
understanding of the Group's performance.
The APMs presented herein are not measurements of performance under NGAAP, IFRS or other generally accepted
accounting principles and investors should not consider any such measures to be an alternative to: (a) revenue or
profit for the period (as determined in accordance with NGAAP, IFRS or other generally accepted accounting
principles), as a measure of the Group's operating performance; or (b) any other measures of performance under
generally accepted accounting principles. The APMs presented herein may not be indicative of the Group's historical
operating results prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, nor are such measures meant
to be predictive of the Group's future results.
When used in this Information Document, the following terms shall have the following meanings (presented in
alphabetical order):
•

Adjusted EBIT Margin: Is defined as Earnings before interest and taxes according to IFRS, adjusted for
non-recurring items, divided by revenue. Non-recurring items are defined as sold operations and
extraordinary items outside of normal course of business, as further explained below. Note that this is based
on a preliminary estimate of the IFRS effects as the Group's Financial Statements are prepared in accordance
with NGAAP.
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•

Adjusted EBITDA (NGAAP): Is defined as Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation
according to Norwegian GAAP, adjusted for non-recurring items. Non-recurring items are defined as sold
operations and extraordinary items outside of normal course of business, as further explained below.

•

Sales CAGR: Is defined as the compounded annual growth rate for sales from the opening to the ending
period.

The following non-recurring items have been adjusted for:
-

Adjustments related to various acquisitions and divestments Sonans Gruppen have completed in the period
from 2018 to 2020 (historical revenues and profits have been excluded for the divested companies and
included for the acquired companies), namely: (i) the sale of Sonans Karriere AS in June 2020, (ii) the
acquisition of Bjørknes Education AS and Bjørknes Høyskole AS in June 2019, (iii) the sale of Oslo Analytica
AS in September 2019, and (iv) the sale of Norges Yrkedsakademi AS in June 2018.

-

One-off adjustments for costs considered not to reflect the actual performance of Sonans Gruppen, namely:
o

Annual license cost for the Qybele system (part of the Bjørknes Høyskole acquisition) that will
cease from end of 2022. After this period, the system will be owned by Sonans and the license cost
will be discontinued without any additional cost;

o

M&A related cost, including cost related to acquisitions and divestments, a loss related to the sale
of Sonans Karriere and a loss as a result of a conflict in relation to the sale of one school in Bergen;
and

o

Cost related to opening of a new school and expenses for developing new courses. The cost has
been capitalized and is linearly depreciated over 5 years.

Further, for the IFRS related APMs the below effects have been adjusted for to reflect the main effects of a potential
conversion to IFRS. These adjustments are the most significant effects from a conversion from NGAAP to IFRS, but
it should be noted that no complete analysis of all effects from a conversion from NGAAP to IFRS has been made:
-

Sonans Gruppen reports all leasing costs as operational leasing (cars and rental agreements) in line with
NGAAP (IAS17). According to IFRS16, the leasing costs would be capitalized. The operational leasing cost
has therefore been reversed based on an estimate of the leasing liability Sonans Gruppen had reported
according to IFRS16 for 2020. The remaining operational leasing costs included as part of reported EBITDA
is related to "low-value assets" (computers, equipment, office furniture etc).

-

Goodwill is depreciated according to NGAAP and considered for impairment according to IFRS. As such,
depreciation of goodwill for the period has been reversed.

The below table presents the EBITDA and EBIT of Sonans Gruppen following adjustments for the above non-recurring
items, IFRS16 and reversion of goodwill depreciations.
Year ended 31 December
(In NOKm)

2020

2019

2018

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

Sonans Gruppen
Pro forma revenue (IFRS) ..........................................................

518.4

464.5

429.4

Pro forma adjusted EBITDA (IFRS) .......................................

198.9

160.8

163.0

Pro forma adjusted EBIT (IFRS)..............................................

152.9

113.0

115.5

3.2.3

Industry and market data

In this Information Document, the Company has used industry and market data obtained from independent industry
publications, market research and other publicly available information. Although the industry and market data is
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inherently imprecise, the Company confirms that where information has been sourced from a third party, such
information has been accurately reproduced and that as far as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain from
information published by that third party, no facts have been omitted that would render the reproduced information
inaccurate or misleading. Where information sourced from third parties has been presented, the source of such
information has been identified.
Industry publications or reports generally state that the information they contain has been obtained from sources
believed to be reliable, but the accuracy and completeness of such information is not guaranteed. The Company has
not independently verified and cannot give any assurances as to the accuracy of market data contained in this
Information Document that was extracted from industry publications or reports and reproduced herein.
Market data and statistics are inherently predictive and subject to uncertainty and not necessarily reflective of actual
market conditions. Such data and statistics are based on market research, which itself is based on sampling and
subjective judgments by both the researchers and the respondents, including judgments about what types of
products and transactions should be included in the relevant market.
As a result, prospective investors should be aware that statistics, data, statements and other information relating to
markets, market sizes, market shares, market positions and other industry data in this Information Document (and
projections, assumptions and estimates based on such information) may not be reliable indicators of the Company's
future performance and the future performance of the industry in which it operates. Such indicators are necessarily
subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk due to the limitations described above and to a variety of other
factors, including those described in Section 1 ("Risk factors") and elsewhere in this Information Document.
Unless otherwise indicated in the Information Document, the basis for any statements regarding the Company's
competitive position is based on the Company's own assessment and knowledge of the market in which it operates.
3.3

Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements

This Information Document includes forward-looking statements that reflect the Company's current views with
respect to future events and financial and operational performance. These forward-looking statements may be
identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, such as the terms "anticipates", "assumes", "believes", "can",
"could", "estimates", "expects", "forecasts", "intends", "may", "might", "plans", "projects", "should", "targets", "will",
"would" or, in each case, their negative, or other variations or comparable terminology. These forward-looking
statements are not historic facts. Prospective investors in the Shares are cautioned that forward-looking statements
are not guarantees of future performance and that the Company's actual financial position, operating results and
liquidity, and the development of the industry in which the Company operates, may differ materially from those made
in, or suggested, by the forward-looking statements contained in this Information Document. The Company cannot
guarantee that the intentions, beliefs or current expectations upon which its forward-looking statements are based
will occur.
By their nature, forward-looking statements involve, and are subject to, known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
assumptions as they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. Because
of these known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the outcome may differ materially from those set
out in the forward-looking statements. For a non-exhaustive overview of important factors that could cause those
differences, please refer to Section 1 ("Risk factors").
These forward-looking statements speak only as at the date on which they are made. The Company undertakes no
obligation to publicly update or publicly revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Company
or to persons acting on the Company's behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements
referred to above and contained elsewhere in this Information Document.
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4

REASONS FOR THE ADMISSION

As of the date of this Information Document, the Company has 16 registered Shareholders (expected to be 223
following settlement in the Private Placement). The Company believes the Admission will:
•

enhance the Group's profile with investors, business partners, suppliers and customers;

•

allow for a trading platform and more liquid market for the Shares;

•

facilitate for a more diversified shareholder base and enable additional investors to take part in the
Group's future growth and value creation;

•

provide better access to capital markets; and

•

further improve the ability of the Group to attract and retain key management and employees.
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5

DIVIDENDS AND DIVIDEND POLICY

5.1

Dividend policy

The Company will strive to distribute dividends to the shareholders. The Company's target pay-out ratio is to
distribute 60-80% of net profit. However, the amount of any dividend to be distributed will be dependent on, inter
alia, the Company's investment requirements and rate of growth. There can be no assurance that in any given year
a dividend will be proposed or declared, or if proposed or declared, that the dividend will be as contemplated by the
policy.
In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board of Directors will take
into account legal restrictions, as set out in Section 5.2 ("Legal and contractual constraints on the distribution of
dividends") below, as well as capital expenditure plans, financing requirements and maintaining the appropriate
strategic flexibility.
The Company did not pay any dividends during the financial years 2020 or 2019.
5.2

Legal and contractual constraints on the distribution of dividends

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount in the future, the Board of
Directors must take into account applicable legal restrictions, as set out in the Norwegian Private Limited Liability
Companies Act of 13 June 1997 no. 44 (as amended) (the "Companies Act") and the Act relating to Universities
and University Colleges of 1 April 2005 no. 15 (as amended) (the "University Act"), the Company's capital
requirements, including capital expenditure requirements, its financial condition, general business conditions and any
restrictions that its contractual arrangements in force at the time of the dividend may place on its ability to pay
dividends and the maintenance of appropriate financial flexibility. Except in certain specific and limited circumstances
set out in the Companies Act, the amount of dividends paid may not exceed the amount recommended by the Board
of Directors.
Dividends may be paid in cash or in some instances in kind. The Companies Act and the University Act provides the
following constraints on the distribution of dividends applicable to the Company:
•

Section 8-1 of the Companies Act regulates what may be distributed as dividend, and provides that the
Company may distribute dividends only to the extent that the Company after said distribution still has net
assets to cover (i) the share capital and (ii) other restricted equity (i.e. the reserve for unrealized gains
and the reserve for valuation of differences).

•

The calculation of the distributable equity shall be made on the basis of the balance sheet included in the
approved annual accounts for the last financial year, provided, however, that the registered share capital
as of the date of the resolution to distribute dividend shall be applied. Following the approval of the annual
accounts for the last financial year, the General Meeting may also authorize the Board of Directors to
declare dividends on the basis of the Company's annual accounts. Dividends may also be resolved by the
General Meeting based on an interim balance sheet which has been prepared and audited in accordance
with the provisions applying to the annual accounts and with a balance sheet date not further into the past
than six months before the date of the General Meeting's resolution.

•

Dividends can only be distributed to the extent that the Company's equity and liquidity following the
distribution is considered sound.

•

Section 8-3 (5) of the University Act provides that private universities and university colleges cannot
distribute dividends if the equity after said distribution is less than 20% of the Company's assets.

Pursuant to the Companies Act, the time when an entitlement to dividend arises depends on what was resolved by
the General Meeting when it resolved to issue new shares in the company. A subscriber of new shares in a Norwegian
private limited company will normally be entitled to dividends from the time when the relevant share capital increase
is registered with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises. The Companies Act does not provide for any time
limit after which entitlement to dividends lapses. Subject to various exceptions, Norwegian law provides a limitation
period of three years from the date on which an obligation is due. There are no dividend restrictions or specific
procedures for non-Norwegian resident shareholders to claim dividends. For a description of withholding tax on
dividends applicable to non-Norwegian residents, see Section 11 ("Norwegian taxation").
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The Group's financing agreements include restrictions on the Group's ability to pay dividend and other distribution
on shares in the Group Companies and to repay or distribute dividend or share premium reserve. Certain
exceptions are made to the said dividend restrictions, such as payment of a dividend to the Company's
shareholders provided that the payment is made when no default is continuing and the leverage is below a set
ratio.
5.3

Manner of dividend payment

Any future payments of dividends on the Shares will be denominated in the currency of the bank account of the
relevant shareholder, and will be paid to the shareholders through Nordea Bank Abp, filial i Norge (the "VPS
Registrar"). Shareholders registered in the VPS who have not supplied the VPS Registrar with details of their bank
account, will not receive payment of dividends unless they register their bank account details with the VPS Registrar.
The exchange rate(s) applied when denominating any future payments of dividends to the relevant shareholder's
currency will be the VPS Registrar's exchange rate on the payment date. Dividends will be credited automatically to
the VPS registered shareholders' accounts, or in lieu of such registered account, at the time when the shareholder
has provided the VPS Registrar with their bank account details, without the need for shareholders to present
documentation proving their ownership of the Shares. Shareholders' right to payment of dividend will lapse three
years following the resolved payment date for those shareholders who have not registered their bank account details
with the VPS Registrar within such date. Following the expiry of such date, the remaining, not distributed dividend
will be returned from the VPS Registrar to the Company.
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6

THE PRIVATE PLACEMENT

6.1

Details of the Private Placement

On 11 February 2021, the Company announced the successful completion of a private placement (the "Private
Placement") with a total transaction size of NOK 1.375 million through the allocation of 27.5 million Shares
(including 2.5 million over-allocated Shares) in the Company at a price of NOK 50.00 per share (the "Offer Price"),
consisting of:
(i)

the issuance of 4 million new Shares by the Company at the Offer Price, raising gross proceeds to the
Company of NOK 200 million; and

(ii)

the sale of 23.5 million existing Shares by certain existing shareholders (the "Selling Shareholders")
at the Offer Price, raising gross proceeds to the Selling Shareholders of NOK 1.175 million.

The bookbuilding period for the Private Placement took place from 10 February 2021 to 11 February 2021,
notifications of allocation were issued on 12 February 2021 and payment on a delivery-versus-payment basis (DvP)
is expected to take place on or about 17 February 2021. In order to enable a DvP settlement of the New Shares to
the investors being allocated new Shares in the Private Placement, the Euronext Advisors pre-funded the gross
proceeds pertaining to the new Shares to the Company, pursuant to a pre-funding agreement entered into with the
Company.
Eight cornerstone investors have been allocated a total of 12 million Shares for gross proceeds of NOK 600 million in
the Private Placement. The cornerstone investors are (i) DNB Asset Management (2.7 million Shares / NOK 135
million), (ii) Capital World Investors (2 million Shares / NOK 100 million), (iii) Creades AB (via endowment insurance)
(1.6 million Shares / NOK 80 million), (iv) Handelsbanken Fonder AB (1.5 million Shares / NOK 75 million), (v) Kayne
Anderson Rudnick (1.2 million Shares / NOK 60 million), (vi) Eika Kapitalforvaltning (1 million Shares / NOK 50
million), (vii) Holberg Fondene (1 million Shares / NOK 50 million) and (viii) KLP Kapitalforvaltning (1 million Shares
/ NOK 50 million).
EMK Capital Partners LP and EMK Capital Partners GP Co-Invest LP (together, the "Principal Selling Shareholder")
has granted ABG Sundal Collier ASA (the "Stabilisation Manager") (on behalf of the Euronext Advisors) an option
to purchase a number of existing shares equal to the number of over-allotted Shares at a price per share equal to
the Offer Price to cover any short positions resulting from any over-allotments made. The Stabilisation Manager may
also, in a period of 30 days from the first day of listing and in accordance with the principles of the EC Commission
Regulation 2273/2003, close out such short position by buying Shares in the open market with a view to supporting
the market price of the Shares. Net profits from any such stabilisation activities will be to the benefit of the Principal
Selling Shareholder.
6.2

Shareholdings following the Private Placement

The 20 largest shareholders of the Company, following settlement towards investors in the Private Placement, will
be as set out in Section 10.4 ("Ownership structure").
6.3

Use of proceeds

The proceeds from the new Shares issued in the Private Placement will primarily be used for down-payment of the
Group's debt and for general corporate purposes. In addition, the proceeds will be used to cover relevant transaction
costs incurred in connection with the Private Placement and the listing of the Shares on Euronext Growth, estimated
to be approximately NOK 20 million.
6.4

Dilution

For any existing shareholders not participating in the Private Placement, the issue of new Shares implied a dilution
of 13%.
6.5

Lock-up

6.5.1

The Company

Pursuant to a lock-up undertaking entered into in connection with the Private Placement, the Company has
undertaken that it will not, without the prior written consent of the Euronext Advisors, during the period up to and
including the date falling 12 months from the first day of trading of the Shares on Euronext Growth, (1) issue any
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Shares, options, warrants, convertible bonds or other securities convertible or exchangeable into Shares in the
Company, (2) sell, pledge, lend, grant any option to purchase or otherwise dispose of or offer to dispose of any of
the Shares in the Company owned by any member of the Group as of the date hereof or which any member of the
Group subsequently becomes the owner of, (3) enter into any swap agreements or other agreement with a similar
economic effect to transactions referred to in (1) or (2) above, or (4) publicly announce any intention to effect any
transaction specified in (1), (2) or (3) above. The foregoing shall not apply to (i) the sale and issue of Shares by the
Company in the Private Placement or (ii) the issue and/or transfer of Shares pursuant to any employee incentive or
share savings plan or as part of any employee incentive agreements.
6.5.2

Board Members and Management

Pursuant to lock-up undertakings entered into in connection with the Private Placement, management and members
of the Board of Directors and the Company's existing shareholders have undertaken that they will not, without the
prior written consent of the Euronext Advisors, during the period up to and including the date falling 12 months from
the first day of trading of the Shares on Euronext Growth, (1) sell, pledge, lend or otherwise dispose of any Shares
(or any other securities convertible into or exchangeable for Shares or which carry rights to purchase Shares), or (2)
enter into any swap agreements or other agreement with a similar economic effect to transactions referred to in (1)
above. The foregoing shall not apply to (i) the sale of Shares in the Private Placement or (ii) any transfer of Shares
to a company wholly owned or directly or indirectly controlled by the shareholder provided that such company (a)
assumes the obligations set forth in the lock-up undertaking and (b) remains wholly owned or directly or indirectly
controlled by the shareholder for the remaining part of the lock-up period.
6.5.3

Major Shareholders

Pursuant to lock-up undertakings entered into in connection with the Private Placement, the Principal Selling
Shareholder has undertaken that it will not, without the prior written consent of the Euronext Advisors during the
period up to and including the date falling 6 months from the first day of trading of the Shares on Euronext Growth,
(1) sell, pledge, lend or otherwise dispose of any Shares (or any other securities convertible into or exchangeable
for Shares or which carry rights to purchase Shares), (2) enter into any swap agreements or other agreement with
a similar economic effect to transactions referred to in (1) above, or (3) publicly announce any intention to effect
any transaction specified in (1) or (2) above. The foregoing shall not apply to (i) the sale of Shares in the Private
Placement or (ii) any transfer of Shares to a company wholly owned or directly or indirectly controlled by Principal
Selling Shareholder provided that such company (a) assumes the obligations set forth in the lock-up undertaking
and (B) remain wholly owned or under the direct or indirect control by the Principal Selling Shareholder for the
remaining part of the lock-up period.
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7

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

This section provides an overview of the Company's business as of the date of this Information Document. The
following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect the Company's plans and estimates, see Section
3.3 ("Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements") above, and should be read in conjunction with other
parts of this Information Document, in particular Section 1 ("Risk factors").
7.1

Introduction

Sonans Gruppen is a leading private education provider in Norway. The Group was founded in 1989 to offer education
services to private candidates for their Norwegian Upper Secondary School exams. In 2014, a new CEO was hired,
and the management team was strengthened in order to reignite stabilising growth rates, help more students reach
individual goals of high importance and to intensify the commercial focus of the Company. The management
developed and implemented a new growth strategy, laying the foundation of stellar growth rates in the coming years.
In 2017, funds advised by EMK Capital LLP ("EMK Capital") acquired Sonans Gruppen (Sonans Utdanning and
Sonans Karriere) with the aim of developing a leading privately-owned education provider. In 2019, the group
acquired Bjørknes Høyskole (Bjørknes University College) which is a Norwegian private university college. Bjørknes
was established in 1997, as part of Bjørknes Privatskole, and was formally established as Bjørknes Høyskole AS in
2007. In 2020, the group divested Sonans Karriere and started the process of establishing a third business area, the
Norwegian School of Technology (“NTECH”).
Sonans Gruppen has over 11,000 active students and around 282 full time employees ("FTEs") at 15 locations across
Norway 1. The total revenue and Adjusted EBITDA (NGAAP) in 2020 was NOK 518 million and NOK 155 million,
respectively 2. The Group has a track record of growth, illustrated by Sales CAGR of 15% since 2002 and Adjusted
EBITDA (NGAAP) CAGR of 20% since 2003.

(Sonans Utdanning AS, Bjørknes Høyskole AS and Bjørknes Education AS for 2002-2017. Adjusted pro forma financials for Sonans
Gruppen for 2018-2020. Adjusted for eliminations, pro forma adjustments and one-off adjustments.)

7.2

History and important events

The table below shows the Group's key milestones for the Group from its inception and to the date of this Information
Document:

1

Year

Event

1989 ..............

• Sonans Utdanning founded as a private candidate high school

2007 ..............

• Bjørknes Høyskole established as an independent university college and company

2011 ..............

• Bjørknes Høyskole acquired Helsehøyskolen

2013 ..............

• Bjørknes submitted initial application for institutional NOKUT accreditation

2014 ..............

• Sonans Utdanning with new growth strategy developed and implemented

Number of students by week 37 for Sonans Utdanning and contracts signed by week 35 / 37 for campus / online students for

Bjørknes Høyskole.
2

Sonans Utdanning AS, Bjørknes Høyskole AS and Bjørknes Education AS for 2002-2017. Adjusted pro forma financials for Sonans

Gruppen for 2018-2020. Adjusted for eliminations, pro forma adjustments and one-off adjustments.
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2015 ..............

• Sonans Utdanning with all-inclusive offer and strengthening of online courses
• Bjørknes Høyskole successfully established psychology as a key factor for growth

2016 ..............

• Sonans Utdanning established a new customer centre and professionalized sales and marketing excellence,

2017 ..............

• Funds advised by EMK Capital acquires Sonans Gruppen

2018 ..............

• Sonans Utdanning established two new centres in Sandvika and Fredrikstad

subsequently seeing record high student intake

• Bjørknes Høyskole with new study programs: Clinical Environmental Therapy, Mental Health in Kindergarten
/ Schools and Nutrition for Children
2019 ..............

• Sonans Utdanning`s new and improved platform for online courses launched. Increased pricing with 20%
• Sonans Utdanning established three new centres in Hamar, Bodø and Lillestrøm
• Bjørknes Høyskole successfully obtains approval for a new bachelor degree in psychology and a Master
degree in psychology
• Bjørknes Høyskole acquired by Sonans

2020 ..............

• Record-high admission levels with correspondingly increased revenues and profitability
• New centre in Tønsberg established
• Applied for four new bachelor degrees with planned launch in 2021
• Record high student enrolment with 10% growth in Sonans Utdanning and 66% growth in Bjørknes
Høyskole

7.3

The Group's business

7.3.1

Business in brief

Sonans Gruppen is a private education company focused on providing educational services. Today, Sonans Gruppen
consists of two main operating divisions; Sonans Utdanning and Bjørknes Høyskole. Sonans Utdanning is the market
leader within high school private candidate exam preparation courses in Norway, and Bjørknes Høyskole is a private
university college. An overview of Sonans Utdanning and Bjørknes Høyskole in the education system is illustrated
below:

All private candidate exam courses at Sonans Utdanning follows approved public competence plans and most study
programs at Bjørknes Høyskole are approved by NOKUT. Consequently, all of Sonans Gruppen’s students qualify for
student loan and grant. This includes up to NOK ~65,000 in loans from the Norwegian State Educational Loan Fund
(Statens lånekasse for utdanning) per year to cover tuition fees and NOK ~120,000 as regular student loan. Up to
40% of the regular student debt can be converted to grants upon passing exams. However, Sonans Gruppen does
not receive any public funding directly, and is therefore able to operate without any commercial restrictions.
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7.3.2

Sonans Utdanning

Sonans Utdanning is Norway’s market leader within high school private candidate exam preparation courses,
primarily to help former high school students achieve better exam results and/or complete their high school education
to access higher education. The school has experienced significant growth in number of students since 2014, and
approximately 8,500 students are currently enrolled 3.

Sonans Utdanning has experienced a strong and uninterrupted revenue growth since 2002, illustrated by a Sales
CAGR of 13% and total revenue of NOK 376 million in 2020. The growth is primarily driven by new schools, increased
market share and by targeting students within the self-study market. The reported EBITDA (NGAAP) in 2020 was
NOK 109 million, equivalent to an EBITDA margin of ~29%. Both the increasing share of online students and new
campuses reaching critical mass has contributed to the strong and growing profitability.

The on-site offering accounts for 83% of total revenue in 2020 and approximately 75% of students 4. On-site courses
are typically 5 hours per week over a 12 week semester. The offering differentiates from courses held by competitors
by being an "all inclusive" offering on high-quality exam-oriented classes and individual counselling. The offering also
includes student guidance, study technique courses, exam tips, oral and written test exams with individual feedback,
and access to online platform. Sonans Utdanning have a broad geographical footprint with 14 course centres in all
major cities in Norway, six of which have been opened in the last three years with the most recent one being Tønsberg
(established in the autumn of 2020).
Sonans Utdanning also has a strong online offering, with a current online student share of 25%, corresponding to
17% of total revenue 5. The online offering compliments the on-site offering and allows Sonans Utdanning to target

3

Number of students by week 37.

4

Number of students by week 37, 2020.

5

Number of students per week 37, 2020.
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a larger market. In total 41 online courses are offered, all including access to a state-of-the-art online platform, a
wide range of videos and webinars and frequent individual follow-up and support.
Sonans Utdanning has a clear and deliberate marketing strategy focusing on providing guidance and advisory on an
unmatched level to ensure Sonans Utdanning's position as market-leading in quality. All marketing efforts and
commercial development builds on extensive research, piloting and testing, as well as structured and prioritised
decisions. Examples of regular market research performed includes “point of purchase” research, evaluation of
marketing campaigns, teacher evaluation, alumni surveys, and brand awareness/recognition surveys. Examples of
ad-hoc analyses that have been conducted include in-depth interviews, self-study surveys, and cancellation
interviews.
Furthermore, Sonans Utdanning devotes considerable resources to delivering high quality throughout the student
journey. This can for instance be proven by satisfaction rates of 4.5 out of 5 by the students when evaluating the
teachers 6. In addition, students are able to improve their grades significantly and ~80% of Sonans students qualify
for higher education programs after finishing at Sonans.

7.3.3

Bjørknes Høyskole

Bjørknes Høyskole is a private university college established in 2007, acquired by Sonans Gruppen (through Sonans
Bidco AS) in 2019. Bjørknes Høyskole has one campus located in central Oslo, in addition to a strong online offering.
Approximately 2,500 students are currently enrolled, and the company has experienced significant growth in number
of students since 2014, as presented below:

Like Sonans Utdanning, Bjørknes Høyskole has experienced a strong revenue growth since 2008, illustrated by a
Sales CAGR of 22% and revenue of NOK 141m in 2020. The growth is partly driven by new programs and embedded

6

Per 2020.
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through a high degree of recurring revenues as a significant share of students attend three years bachelor degrees.
The high growth has enabled the school to achieve scale, which has positively impacted profitability.

The Bjørknes Høyskole offering includes one-year courses, Bachelor degrees, a Master degree from 2021, and shorter
programs. Core subject focus is on social sciences, psychology, healthcare (medicine, physiotherapy and nutrition),
and business and administration from 2021. Bjørknes Høyskole actively monitors the public higher education
admission statistics and develops studies that are oversubscribed and in high demand among students. In total 30
programs are currently offered, and 8 new courses are planned in 2021, subject to NOKUT approval 7.
Bjørknes Høyskole was a pioneer within online studies, with a current online student share of 62%, corresponding to
47% of total revenue 8. Since 2014, the number of NOKUT approved online programs has grown from 4 to 17 9, and
three more programs are expected in 2021. The online platform provides Bjørknes Høyskole with the potential to
scale further using current infrastructure and enabled a year-over-year online growth from 2019 to 2020 of 117%.
Bjørknes Høyskole offers proof of concept through an average satisfaction rate of 4.5 out of 5, which is the 5th highest
student satisfaction of all Norwegian higher education institutions in 2019 10. Bjørknes Høyskole’s own alumni surveys
for 2020 also show that satisfaction has improved slightly despite limitations caused by COVID-19. The high quality
and student satisfaction are ensured by high emphasis placed on attracting quality teachers, close follow-up for
students to ensure a positive experience and an intuitive and well-functioning online platform.
7.3.4
The 1

Spring 2021 student intake
st

of February is important for both Sonans Utdanning and for Bjørknes Høyskole. This date constitutes the

deadline for signing up to spring semester private candidate exams, as well as for signing up for spring semester
courses at Bjørknes Høyskole. Hence, student intake in January for both Sonans Utdanning and Bjørknes Høyskole
is an important indicator for the Company. Sonans Utdanning saw satisfactory growth in student intake in January
2021. The number of students that signed up for Sonans courses in January 2021 showed 9% growth year-overyear. Of students that signed up, 32% signed up for online courses, compared 23% for the same period in 2020.
The Company believes that the significant shift towards online is in part an effect from the recently strictened COVID19 restrictions implemented in the Greater Oslo region in this period.
Bjørknes Høyskole experienced accelerating growth in student intake in January 2021, growing 28% year-over-year.
An overview of historic growth rates is provided in the figure below. Note that growth rates for 2015-2020 relates to
year-over-year growth in full year student intake, while the growth rate for Spring 2021 relates to growth year over
year in student intake for the spring of 2021 as of 31 January 2021 compared to intake for the spring of 2020 as of
31 January 2020.

7

Current offering including existing NOKUT-approved half-year, one-year and bachelor programs. Counting online and campus

programs as two separate programs. Also includes Tropical Medicine in Tanzania, despite not being a NOKUT approved program.
8

Number of online students based on contracts signed by week 35 / 37 for campus / online students.

9

Includes a Functional Anatomy & Physiology program which is no longer offered as a separate program.

10

Based score on NOKUT 2019 survey.
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7.3.5

Financial targets

For the segment Sonans Utdanning, the Company targets an annual revenue growth of 5-10% and an Adjusted EBIT
Margin (IFRS) towards slightly above 30%. In 2021, revenue growth is expected to be around 5%, driven by the
short term impact of the shift to online described in section 7.3.4. The revenue for H1 2021 is expected to be in the
area of the same period last year due to higher online share. Online sales are recognised over a 12 month period
while on-site sales are recognised over a 6 months period, causing a shift of revenues from H1 to H2.
For the segment Bjørknes Høyskole, the Company targets an annual revenue growth of 20-25% (around 25% in
2021) and an Adjusted EBIT Margin (IFRS) above 30%. However, short term margin is expected to be impacted by
investment in new programmes and volume of student intake.
The Company’s leverage target (based on a NGAAP net interest-bearing debt and EBITDA (NGAAP)) is ~2.5x through
the year, but is expected to fluctuate naturally with the business’ seasonality. The target is flexible in terms of
pursuing M&A opportunities and maintenance of dividend capacity.
Capital expenditures is expected to be 2-3% of revenue short term due to exceptional development activities, with
a mid- to long-term target of 1% of the Company’s revenues. Normal levels are expected at Sonans Utdanning going
forward, while capitalized payroll at Bjørknes Høyskole in H1 2021 and development of Norwegian School of
Technology will elevate the capital expenditures above the mid- to long-term target in the short term.
The above financial targets for growth and profitability are split per the two key operational segments, Sonans
Utdanning and Bjørknes Høyskole. Hence, the financial impact of Norwegian School of Technology is not included in
growth and profitability targets. All figures are based on the Company’s current business, presented on an organic
basis and representing the medium term targets for the segments. On a general basis, the Company expects further
growth on the back of increased private candidate penetration for Sonans Utdanning, new course offerings at
Bjørknes Høyskole and start-up of Norwegian School of Technology. There is also potential for additional growth
through M&A activity.
7.3.6

Norwegian School of Technology (NTECH)

Sonans Gruppen is currently in the process of establishing NTECH, a practical IT vocational school, to meet the large
demand for high-quality practical programming expertise. Through NTECH, the group will offer vocational IT
education, potentially higher education and boot camps for IT education. The courses will focus on practical use of
IT skills demanded by the job market and be suitable for all students with IT interest. The group has already started
to hire employees 11, secured premises and will apply for NOKUT approval during Q1 2021. Furthermore, the group
is in dialogue for collaborations with key industrials players, to ensure a highly relevant study program. Subject to
NOKUT approval, the first semester is expected to be in 2021.
7.4

Material contracts

7.4.1

Qybele

Bjørknes Høyskole AS has entered into an agreement with Digital Campus AS pursuant to which Bjørknes Høyskole
is granted a right to use the IT platform Qybele against payment of an annual fee to Digital Campus AS and its

11

Among others, a Dean and a quality responsible has been hired.
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subsidiary Nettskolen Eureka AS. According to a separate agreement entered into in 2019, the parties have agreed
that the ownership to Qybele shall be transferred in full to Bjørknes Høyskole on 1 January 2023 at no cost.
7.4.2

Other material contracts

Neither the Company nor any other member of the Group has entered into any material contracts outside the ordinary
course of business for the two years prior to the date of this Information Document. Further, the Group has not
entered into any other contract outside the ordinary course of business that contains any provision under which any
member of the Group has any obligation or entitlement that is material to the Group as of the date of this Information
Document.
7.5

Principal Markets

Sonans Gruppen is present in two markets through its two current operating units. Through Sonans Utdanning, the
Company is present in the Norwegian market for private candidate exam preparation for courses at study
specialisation courses on high school level. Through Bjørknes Høyskole, the Company is present in the Norwegian
market for higher education. Furthermore, the planned start-up NTECH will mark a new business area targeting the
market for vocational education.
7.5.1

Private candidate exam preparation

The market for private candidate exam preparation largely consists of high school students that have finished high
school that (i) have incomplete diplomas, (ii) lack specific subjects required by their desired program of study, or
(iii) have insufficient grade point averages for acceptance to their desired program of study. According to Sonans
Utdanning's alumni questionnaires for 2020, 48% of Sonans Utdanning's students lacked a high school diploma, 40%
lacked specific subjects and 30% had an insufficient grade point average prior to attending Sonans Utdanning. In
addition to these core categories, the Company may serve students with unconventional needs, for instance students
using Sonans Utdanning’s online solution while living abroad, as an alternative to traditional high school requiring
physical presence.
While Sonans Utdanning offer students preparation, the actual exam is taken as a publicly arranged exam. Hence,
students may choose alternatives to paid private exam preparation, including preparing without any external aid
("self-study"). Students within the self-study market is a part of the Company's addressable market. As shown below,
Sonans Gruppen estimates that 57% of private exam candidates are in the self-study segment 12.

Historically, increasing penetration of the self-study segment has driven growth in the market for private candidate
exam preparation services. Given the significant share of students that are still part of the self-study segment,
Sonans Gruppen expects that continued increases in penetration of this segment will drive further growth in market

12

Company estimate, based on data from UDIR, Privatistweb.no, Proff.no and county school offices.
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size. The number of higher education applicants is another driver of growth in the market for private candidate exam
preparation. From 2011 to 2020, the number of Norwegian higher education applicants grew by CAGR of 3.7% 13. In
this period, the number of admission places have failed to keep up with the increasing number of students seeking
to attend higher education. From 2011 to 2020, the number of higher education applications per admission place
has increased from 2.2 to 2.6 14 . The market is further supported by trends like focus on lifelong learning and
increasing labour market demand for candidates with higher education.
In a report by the Norwegian University of Science and Technology ("NTNU") social research from 2009, on behalf
of the Norwegian Ministry of Education and Research, reducing dropout rates by one third per cohort would generate
annual societal benefits of NOK 6bn 15. While this is an item high on the political agenda, public efforts to reduce
dropouts have had varying results. Among high school-students finishing between 2013 and 2019, 36% have
incomplete diplomas 5 or 6 years after starting high school 16. In comparison, over 80% of Sonans Utdanning alumni
are eligible for higher education after finishing at Sonans Utdanning (compared to 48% of Sonans Utdanning students
prior to attending Sonans Utdanning) 17 , illustrating the societal importance and fundamental benefit of private
candidate exam providers. Therefore, the Company believes that high-quality private candidate exam preparation
providers serve an important role in society.
7.5.2

Higher education

Through Bjørknes Høyskole, Sonans Gruppen is present in the Norwegian market for higher education. This market
has shown steady growth, with the number of applicants increasing by a 3.7% CAGR from 2011 to 2020, and the
number of applicants per public admission place rising steadily, implying increasing demand for private higher
education offerings 18. In 2020, only 41% of students were admitted to their preferred choice of study, leaving
~88,000 students without admittance to their preferred study 19.

While the overall demand for higher education is driven by macro factors such as population growth and labour
market demand, the Company believes that the addressable market for private higher education offerings within
different study areas is driven by (i) labour market demand for candidates within the field, (ii) the field's popularity
among students and (iii) public universities' ability to meet the demand for study places. The high and increasing
number of applicants per public admission place creates significant potential for further growth through tapping into
the vast demand gap. In line with this, Bjørknes Høyskole has targeted study areas where demand gaps are especially
large, prioritising areas that score strongly on labour market demand and popularity among students. Doing so, the
Company believes that it is present in the most attractive sub-segments of the market for higher education. Demand

13

Samordna Opptak.

14

Samordna Opptak, DBH (Database for Statistics for Higher Education).

15

«Frafall fra videregående opplæring og arbeidsmarkedstilknytning for unge voksne», Falch & Nyhus (2009).

16

Statistics Norway. 5 years after starting high school for study specialisation students, 6 year for trade subject students.

17

Sonans Utdanning 2020 alumni survey.

18

Samordna Opptak, DBH. All admission places available through Samordna Opptak. All applicants included.

19

Samordna Opptak, DBH.
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gaps for study areas targeted by Bjørknes Høyskole are illustrated below 20 (note that this graph illustrates first choice
applicants within each field, as opposed to the graph above showing all applicants).

Bjørknes Høyskole target students differ across campus and online studies. The average age of Bjørknes Høyskole's
online students is 32.1 years, while the average campus student is 21.9 years. Online students typically have work
or family obligations and attend Bjørknes Høyskole to obtain the flexibility offered online, while campus-based
students tend to be full-time students. Furthermore, around half of online students are bachelor students, compared
to around 60% for campus students. The significant share of online students contributes to a diversified student
mass, as shown below 21.

In addition to targeting the above study areas through Bjørknes Høyskole, Sonans Gruppen is targeting the market
for private IT vocational education through the planned launch of NTECH. Company analyses indicate that factors
including digitalisation across industries, a lack of candidates with practical IT skill sets and increasing interest among
students makes this sub-segment especially attractive. From 2016 to 2019, the number of graduates from IT
vocational schools grew with a CAGR of 22%, compared to 16.4% for all IT graduates 22.

20

Samordna Opptak, DBH. All admission places available through Samordna Opptak. Only first choice applicants. For health, certain

areas not deemed relevant to Bjørknes Høyskole has been excluded.
21

Based on Bjørknes Høyskole’s alumni survey

22

DBH.
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7.6

Competitive situation

Sonans Utdanning's competition consist of several private providers who offer private candidate courses both at
physical campuses and online. The private candidate market is split between the private candidates purchasing
courses from one of the providers and the private candidates studying themselves. In 2020, private candidates
studying themselves represented a majority of the total market.
Bjørknes Høyskole's competition consists of both public education institutions and private providers. Private providers
may be further split between (i) smaller specialised niche university colleges, like Atlantis Medisinske Høgskole, (ii)
medium-sized university colleges, including Noroff and VID vitenskapelige høyskole and (iii) larger university colleges
like Høyskolen Kristiania and BI.
7.7

Group organisation

The Company is the parent company of the Group, with limited activity other than being the ultimate holding
company. The Company has 8 direct and indirect subsidiaries, all of which are wholly-owned and incorporated in
Norway.
The figure below sets forth an overview of the Group’s current legal structure.
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7.8

Dependency on contracts, patents, licenses, trademarks, etc.

7.8.1

Dependency on contracts

It is the Company's opinion that the Group's existing business and profitability is not dependent upon any contracts.
However, the agreements described in Section 7.4 are considered to be of material importance to the Group.
7.8.2

Dependency on patents, licenses, trademarks, etc

It is the Company's opinion that the Group's existing business and profitability is not dependent on any patents,
licenses or other intellectual property.
7.9

Related party transactions

Except for purchase of goods and services within the Group in 2019 for an aggregate amount of NOK 150,000, no
related party transactions has been carried out during the periods covered by the historical financial information
included in this Information Document as Appendix B and Appendix C and up to the date of this Information
Document.
7.10

Legal and arbitration proceedings

From time to time, the Group may become involved in litigation, disputes and other legal proceedings arising in the
course of its business. Neither the Company nor any other company in the Group, is, nor has been, during the course
of the preceding 12 months involved in any legal, governmental or arbitration proceedings which may have, or have
had in the recent past, significant effects on the Company's and/or the Group's financial position or profitability, and
the Company is not aware of any such proceedings which are pending or threatened.
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8

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND OTHER INFORMATION

8.1

Introduction and basis for preparation

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with NGAAP and are included herein as Appendix B and
Appendix

C.

The

Financial

Statements

have

been

audited

by

the

Company's

independent

auditor,

PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, as set forth in the auditor's report, which is included in the Financial Statements (see
Appendix B and Appendix C). The auditor's reports do not include any qualifications.
The selected financial information presented in Section 8.3 to Section 8.6 below has been derived from the Financial
Statements and should be read in connection with, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, the Financial
Statements included herein as Appendix B and Appendix C.
8.2

Summary of accounting policies and principles

For information regarding accounting policies and the use of estimates and judgments, please see note 1 in each of
the Financial Statements, incorporated herein as Appendix B and Appendix C.
8.3

Selected statement of income

The table below sets out selected data from the Group's audited consolidated income statement for the year ended
31 December 2020, with comparable figures for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Year ended 31 December
(In NOK)

2020

2019

(audited)

(audited)

Revenue ..........................................................................................................................................

561,001,443

564,484,102

Government grants ...................................................................................................................

1,056,848

304,122

Other operating income ..........................................................................................................

353,827

102,650

Total income ..............................................................................................................................

562,412,118

564,890,874

Raw materials and consumables used .............................................................................

-

4,093,230

Payroll expenses .........................................................................................................................

259,500,604

288,789,620

Depreciation and amortization expenses ........................................................................

64,474,085

66,416,784

Impairment charges Sonans Karriere AS .......................................................................

-

56,548,086

19,599,319

-

Loss from sale of Sonans Karriere AS
Other operating expenses ......................................................................................................

159,146,708

159,051,053

Total operating expenses .................................................................................................

502,720,716

574,898,773

Operating profit ......................................................................................................................

59,691,402

-10,007,899

Interest income ...........................................................................................................................

1,022,005

692,161

Other finance income ...............................................................................................................

177,234

117,838

Interest expense .........................................................................................................................

40,410,583

36,018,611

Other financial expense ...........................................................................................................

2,599,140

5,466,699

Profit before income tax ...................................................................................................

17,880,918

-50,683,210

Income tax expense ..................................................................................................................

21,289,274

13,388,252

Net profit and loss for the year ....................................................................................

-3,408,356

-64,071,462

8.4

Selected statement of financial position

The table below sets out selected data from the Group's audited consolidated balance sheet for the year ended 31
December 2020, with comparable figures for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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Year ended 31 December
(In NOK)

2020

2019

(audited)

(audited)

Assets
Concessions, patents etc. ...............................................................................................

6,512,414

2,139,600

Deferred tax asset .............................................................................................................

-

-

Goodwill ..................................................................................................................................

881,829,978

958,880,659

Total intangible assets ...............................................................................................

888,342,392

961,020,259

Capitalized costs .................................................................................................................

1,553,225

468,101

Financial leasing ..................................................................................................................

-

883,642

Office machinery and equipment ................................................................................

12,224,527

11,746,860

Total tangible assets ...................................................................................................

13,777,752

13,098,603

Investments in subsidiaries ...........................................................................................

-

-

Investments in shares......................................................................................................

1,498,800

1,098,800

Other receivables ...............................................................................................................

-

0

Total financial non-current assets .....................................................................

1,498,800

1,098,800

Total non-current assets...........................................................................................

903,618,944

975,217,662

Accounts receivables ........................................................................................................

23,356,393

33,997,679

Other receivables ...............................................................................................................

16,194,105

42,003,645

Total receivables ............................................................................................................

39,550,498

76,001,324

Cash and bank deposits ..................................................................................................

17,846,453

35,377,873

Total current assets .....................................................................................................

57,396,950

111,379,196

Total assets ........................................................................................................................

961,015,894

1,086,596,858

Share capital .........................................................................................................................

2,995,029

2,955,029

Treasury stock .....................................................................................................................

-42,495

-38,395

Equity and liabilities

Share premium ....................................................................................................................

222,726,543

226,721,017

Total paid-in equity ......................................................................................................

225,679,077

229,677,651

Retained earnings ..............................................................................................................

-

-

Total retained earnings .............................................................................................

-

-

Total equity ........................................................................................................................

225,679,077

229,677,651

Pension liabilities ................................................................................................................

615,872

800,543

Deferred tax ..........................................................................................................................

883,518

1,391,370

Total Provisions...............................................................................................................

1,499,390

2,191,913

Liabilities to financial institutions ................................................................................

595,802,201

659,371,183

Other non-current liabilities ..........................................................................................

-

33,787,639

Total other non-current liabilities ......................................................................

595,802,201

693,158,882
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Year ended 31 December
(In NOK)

2020

2019

(audited)

(audited)

Trade creditors ....................................................................................................................

5,557,754

11,420,145

Tax payable ...........................................................................................................................

22,791,738

15,658,676

Public duties payable ........................................................................................................

16,079,458

19,308,587

Liabilities to group companies ......................................................................................

0

0

Other current debt .............................................................................................................

93,606,278

115,181,064

Total current liabilities ...............................................................................................

138,035,228

161,568,472

Total liabilities .................................................................................................................

735,336,819

856,919,207

Total equity and liabilities .......................................................................................

961,015,894

1,086,596,858

8.5

Selected statement of cash flows

The table below sets out selected data from the Group's audited consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
ended 31 December 2020, with comparable figures for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Year ended 31 December
(In NOK)

2020

2019

(audited)

(audited)

Cash flow from operations
Profit before income taxes .............................................................................................

17,880,918

-50,683,210

Taxes paid in the period..................................................................................................

-15,658,676

-9,624,276

Gain/loss from sale of fixed assets ............................................................................

147,372

-

Loss of sale of subsidiary................................................................................................

19,488,392

-

Depreciation ..........................................................................................................................

64,474,085

66,416,785

Impairment of fixed assets ............................................................................................

0

56,548,086

Change in trade debtors .................................................................................................

1,822,426

320,619

Change in trade creditors ...............................................................................................

-4,321,313

2,880,789

scheme ....................................................................................................................................

-184,671

174,184

Change in other provisions ............................................................................................

34,514,978

15,599,224

Net cash flow from operations .............................................................................

118,163,511

81,632,201

Differences in expensed pensions and payments in/out of the pension

Cash flow from investments
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets .............................................................................

100,000

-

Purchase of fixed assets..................................................................................................

-6,529,003

-5,574,340

Purchase of intangible assets .......................................................................................

-6,796,940

-7,900,546

Proceeds/payment from other claims .......................................................................

0

-964,746

Payment to buy shares in other companies ..........................................................

0

51,000

Payment to buy subsidiaries .........................................................................................

0

-203,900,811

Net cash derecognised upon sale of subsidiary ...................................................

-1,895,883

-

Net cash flow from investments..........................................................................

-15,121,826

-218,289,443

-

-

Cash flow from financing
Proceeds from the issuance of intercompany liabilities ...................................
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Year ended 31 December
(In NOK)

2020

2019

(audited)

(audited)

Proceeds from the issuance of new liabilities .......................................................

-

129,330,120

Repayment of loans ..........................................................................................................

-68,001,532

-

Repayment of other loans ..............................................................................................

-51,999,010

-

Net change in bank overdraft .......................................................................................

-

-30,000,000

New equity received ..........................................................................................................

-

46,394,578

Repayments of equity ......................................................................................................

-572,563

-2,827,399

Net cash flow from financing .................................................................................

-120,573,105

142,897,299

Net change in cash and cash equivalents...............................................................

-17,531,420

6,240,057

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period ............................

35,377,873

29,137,815

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period................................................

17,846,453

35,377,873

8.6

Selected statement of changes in equity

Changes in the Group's equity for the year ending on 31 December 2020 and 2019 are included below.

Other paid-in

Share

(In NOK)

capital
Equity at 31 December

Share premium

equity

Total

Other equity

2,995,029

228,221,017

-38,395

-

231,177,651

-

-1,500,000

-

-

2,995,029

226,721,017

-38,395

-

229,677,651

Purchase of treasury stock

-

-568,463

-4,100

-

-572,563

Other equity changes

-

-17,654

-

-

-17,654

Profit for the year

-

-

-

-3,408,356

-3,408,356

Transfer from share

-

-3,408,356

-

3,408,356

-

2,995,029

222,726,543

-42,495

-

222,679,077

2019
Changes
Equity 01.01

-1,500,000

premium
Equity at 31 December
2020

8.7

Significant changes in the Group's financial or trading position

Other than the Private Placement, the Group has not carried out any transactions after the last audited accounts that
represent a change of more than 25% in its total assets, revenue or profit or loss.
8.8

Material borrowings

8.8.1

Third party borrowings

The Group's current financing consists of a certain senior facilities agreement dated 11 February 2021 (the "SFA")
made between, among others, the Company and Nordea Bank Abp, filial i Norge as agent. The SFA has a maturity
of three years from the first utilisation date. The facilities covered by the SFA consist of a single currency term loan
facility and a single currency revolving credit facility. The term loan facility has an amortization of NOK 10,000,000
twice a year. Each loan under the revolving credit facility shall be repaid on the last day of its interest period.
The SFA provides for leverage ratio covenants applying to certain time periods until the termination date of the SFA,
and a change of control provision related to 50% ownership of the Company. Further, the SFA permits to pay
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dividends to the Company or any of its subsidiaries on a pro rata basis if the relevant subsidiary is not wholly-owned
by a member of the Group, for as long as no event of default is continuing, and to the Company's shareholders
subject to the leverage ratio not exceeding 3.00:1.00.
The Group's obligations under the SFA is secured by i) mortgages, pledges and/or fixed or floating charges over all
the material operating assets (including, but not limited to, any real property, machinery and plant and accounts
receivable) of each subsidiary of the Company, ii) pledge over the shares in each subsidiary of the Company (other
than Sonans Midco AS), and iii) assignment over certain intra-group loan receivables.

8.8.2

Earn-out obligation

The sellers of Bjørknes Høyskole AS and Bjørknes Education AS are entitled to an earn-out payment from Sonans
Bidco AS in the aggregate amount of NOK 30,000,000. The earn-out amount shall be paid by Sonans Bidco AS no
later than 31 May 2021. As security for the earn-out obligation, the sellers have been granted a pledge over all the
shares in Sonans Midco AS. The pledge will be released upon payment of the earn-out amount.
8.9

Working capital statement

The Company is of the opinion that the working capital available to the Group is sufficient for the Group's present
requirements for the period covering at least 12 months from the date of this Information Document.
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9

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT AND OTHER CONSULTANTS

9.1

Introduction

The General Meeting is the highest decision-making authority of the Company. All shareholders of the Company are
entitled to attend and vote at General Meetings and to table draft resolutions for items to be included on the agenda
for a General Meeting.
The Annual General Meeting of the Company for 2021 was held on 3 February 2021. The date of the first annual
general meeting following the application for the Admission has not been set, but will be held within 30 June 2022.
The date of publication of the first half-yearly report following the first day of trading on Euronext Growth has not
been set, but is expected to be on or about end July 2021.
The overall management of the Company is vested with its Board of Directors and the Management. In accordance
with Norwegian law, the Board of Directors is responsible for, among other things, supervising the general and
day-to-day management of the Company's business ensuring proper organization, preparing plans and budgets for
its activities ensuring that the Company's activities, accounts and assets management are subject to adequate
controls and undertaking investigations necessary to perform its duties.
The Management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company's operations in accordance with
Norwegian law and instructions set out by the Board of Directors. Among other responsibilities, the Company's Chief
Executive Officer (the "CEO"), is responsible for keeping the Company's accounts in accordance with existing
Norwegian legislation and regulations and for managing the Company's assets in a responsible manner. In addition,
the CEO must, according to Norwegian law, brief the Board of Directors about the Company's activities, financial
position and operating results at a minimum of one time per month.
9.2

The Board of Directors

9.2.1

General

The Articles of Association provide that the Board of Directors shall comprise up to seven board members, as elected
by the Company's shareholders in an ordinary or extraordinary general meeting (as applicable).
The Company's registered business address, Sandakerveien 116, 0484 Oslo, Norway, serves as business address for
the members of the Board of Directors in relation to their directorship in the Company.
9.2.2

The composition of the Board of Directors

The names and positions of the members of the Board of Directors as of the date of this Information Document are
set out in the table below.
Name

Function

Served since

Term expires

Shares

Helge Midttun ....................................

Chairperson

18 December 2017

N/A

503,633 Shares
(through Visento
AS)*

Patrik Johnson...................................

Director

18 December 2017

N/A

-

Adam Frahm ......................................

Director

18 December 2017

N/A

-

Erik Brandt ..........................................

Director

18 December 2017

N/A

1,212,472 Shares*

* Before down-sale in the Private Placement. Visento AS is expected to sell approx. 10% of its shareholding and Erik Brandt is
expected to sell approx. 20% of his shareholding in connection with the Private Placement.

On 12 February 2021, the general meeting of the Company resolved to elect a new Board of Directors with effect
from the first day of trading on Euronext Growth. The names and positions of the members of the new Board of
Directors are set out in the table below.
Name

Function

Served since

Term expires

Shares

Helge Midttun ....................................

Chairperson

18 December 2017

N/A

503,633 Shares
(through Visento
AS)*

Edmund Lazarus ..............................

Director

17 February 2021

N/A

-
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Mark Joseph .......................................

Director

17 February 2021

N/A

-

Anne Dahle .........................................

Director (employee

17 February 2021

N/A

-

representative)
* Before down-sale in the Private Placement. Visento AS is expected to sell approx. 10% of its shareholding in the Private
Placement.

9.2.3

Brief biographies of the Board Members

Set out below are brief biographies of members of the Board of Directors, including their managerial expertise and
experience, in addition to an indication of any significant principal activities performed by them outside of the
Company.
Helge Midttun, Chairperson
Helge Midttun has wide experience from many industries and has served as chairperson of the Board of Sonans
Gruppen AS since 2011. He has previously served as CEO of Fjord Seafoods ASA, President and CEO of Det norske
Veritas and Aker Biomarine ASA and on the Boards of Statoil (Equinor) ASA, Aker Kværner ASA, Rieber & Søn ASA
(chairperson) and HENT AS (Chairperson). He currently serves as chairperson of the Boards of Aibel, Rieber and Son
AS and Skaugen AS.
Edmund Lazarus, Director
Edmund Lazarus is, together with Mark Joseph, Managing Partner and Founder of EMK Capital. Prior to EMK Capital,
Mr. Lazarus was Managing Partner of Bregal Capital which he was a founder of in 2002. He has been in senior private
equity positions for over 20 years. Amongst the many Board positions Mr. Lazarus has held, in addition to Sonans,
are the education companies, Cognita, Studialis and QA. Mr. Lazarus' prior career was as a strategic consultant with
Bain & Co and as an M&A and Corporate Finance adviser with SG Warburg and Merrill Lynch before entering the
private equity industry with Morgan Stanley Capital Partners.
Mr. Lazarus is committed to public service alongside his professional career and served from 1992 to 2002 on
Westminster Council, the City Government for Central London, latterly as Chairman of Finance and Deputy Leader,
as Chairman of Finance of the London Development Agency from 2008 to 2012 and as Chairman of the London Green
Fund from 2012 to 2016 (the latter positions nominated by the Mayor of London). A British national, Mr. Lazarus
graduated with a first-class degree in Politics, Philosophy and Economics from Oxford University where he was also
elected president of the Oxford Union in 1989.
Mark Joseph, Director
Mark Joseph is, together with Edmund Lazarus, Managing Partner and Founder of EMK Capital. Prior to EMK Capital,
Mr. Joseph was a Partner of Oakley Capital Private Equity which he was a founder of in 2007. He has been in senior
private equity positions for over 13 years. Amongst the many Board positions Mark has held, in addition to Sonans,
is the education company Educas (now known as Inspired).
Prior to Oakley Capital Private Equity Mr Joseph was a Managing Director at UBS Investment Bank where he provided
corporate finance advice on over $60 billion of M&A and capital markets transactions. A British national, Mr. Joseph
graduated with an honours degree in Economics from the University of Manchester and subsequently qualified as a
chartered accountant with PWC in London.
Anne Dahle, Director (employee representative)
Anne Dahle is teaching Norwegian at Sonans Nettstudier and Sonans Privatist, Bergen. She is head of the online
Norwegian section and has developed the online course in Norwegian language and literature at Sonans Nettstudier.
She started teaching at Sonans in 1995, after a year in public education. In addition to teaching, she has worked
with sales and students counselling.
Mrs. Dahle studied French and Norwegian literature and languages and finished her Master at the university of Bergen
in 1994. In 1999 she worked in the travel industry in Spain for two years followed by two years as a student advisor
at MI Bergen, now Høyskolen Christiania, before being offered to return to teaching in Sonans in 2004.
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9.3

Management

9.3.1

General

As of the date of this Information Document, the Group's senior management team consists of seven individuals.
The names of the members of the management and their respective positions are presented in the table below.
Name

Position

Employed since

Shares

Options held

Erik Brandt .............................................

Chief Executive Officer

2014

1,212,472

-

Shares*
Henrik Knudtzon .................................

Chief Financial Officer

2019

239,822 Shares

-

(through Tind
Capital AS)*
Marit Aamold Trysnes .......................

Chief Strategy and Market

2015

Officer
Terje Ravnsborg ..................................

Director of IT

191,738

-

Shares*
2011

192,882

-

Shares*
Line Lunde .............................................

Director of HR

2014

184,831

-

Shares*
Michael Brekke.....................................

Director of Operations

2016

206,981

-

Shares*
Morten Danielsen ................................

CEO of Bjørknes Høyskole

2020

-

-

* Before down-sale in the Private Placement. The members of management are expected to sell approx. 20% of their shareholding
in the Private Placement.

The Company's registered business address, Sandakerveien 116, 0484 Oslo, Norway, serves as business address for
the members of the Company's senior management team in relation to their employment with the Group.
9.3.2

Brief biographies of the management

Erik Brandt, Chief Executive Officer
Erik Brandt has been the CEO of Sonans since 2014. Mr. Brandt has been working as an education professional for
twenty years and has extensive management experience prior to Sonans, including holding several positions as
Managing Director and Sales and Marketing Director in Høyskolen Kristiania. Mr. Brandt has held several Board
positions within the education sector and also served as a Board member for Abelia. Mr. Brandt holds a MA degree
in Marketing and Tourism Management, from University of Hertfordshire and Strategic Leadership program from
Said Business School, University of Oxford.
Henrik Knudtzon, Chief Financial Officer
Henrik Knudtzon has been the CFO of Sonans since 2019. Prior to that Mr. Knudtzon was CFO and Head of Investor
Relations at IDEX Biometrics AS, a company listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange. In addition, he has worked as an
investment professional at Herkules Capital and he was a consultant at McKinsey & Company. Mr. Knudtzon holds a
Master of Science degree in Economics and Business Administration, with a specialization in finance, from the
Norwegian School of Economics (NHH).
Marit Aamold Trysnes, Chief Strategy and Market Officer
Marit Aamold Trysnes has been the Chief Strategy & Marketing Officer of Sonans since 2015. Prior to that Ms. Aamold
Trysnes was Director of Strategy and Projects at Kristiania University College. In addition, she has worked as a
management consultant at Qvartz (now Bain & Company) and PA Consuting Group. Ms. Aamold Trysnes holds a
Master of Business Administration, from BI Norwegian School of Management, and graduated with honours.
Terje Ravnsborg, Director of IT
Terje Ravnsborg has been the CIO of Sonans since 2011. Prior to that Mr. Ravnsborg was Head of eSolutions at EDB
ErgoGroup AS (now TietoEVRY). In addition, he has worked as IT-Manager at Storebrand, as Technical Head at
StreamServe (now OpenText), and as IT-professional at JOH-Data (now Norgesgruppen Data).
Line Lunde, Director of HR
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Line Lunde has been the HR Director of Sonans since 2014. Prior to that Ms. Lunde was HR Director of King Food AS
& TGI Fridays, both companies in Umoe Restaurants AS, a leading restaurant company in Scandinavia. In addition,
she has worked as Director of Operations in Sonans Karriere, and several years as an Operations Manager in King
Food AS. Ms. Lunde holds a Master of Management degree from Norwegian Business School (BI).
Michael Brekke, Director of Operations
Michael Brekke has been the Director of School Operations of Sonans since 2016. Prior to that Mr. Brekke was the
principal of Sonans videregående skole since 2009, and a teacher at Sonans Privatgymnas since 2005. In addition,
he is chairman of Hovde & Brekke Forlag and has worked as a carpenter, librarian and administrator. Mr. Brekke
holds a Master of Arts degree in History, with a specialization in the Norwegian constitution, from the University of
Bergen (UiB).
Morten Danielsen, CEO Bjørknes Høyskole
Morten Danielsen has been CEO of Bjørknes University College since 2020. Prior to that Mr. Danielsen was CMO and
later CCO at Egmont Story House (formerly Egmont publishing), one of Norway’s largest media houses. He has
background from management consulting from PwC and has been on several boards in various sectors. Mr. Danielsen
holds a Master of Science degree in Economics and Business Administration, with a specialization in strategy, from
the Norwegian School of Economics (NHH).
9.4

Share-based incentive programs

As of the date of this Information Document, the Group does not have any active share-based incentive programs.
9.5

Employees and other consultants

As of 31 January 2021, the Group had 282 FTEs.
9.6

Benefits upon termination

The CEO is entitled to severance pay equal to 12 months' base salary in the event that the employer terminates the
employment, unless the employment is terminated due to gross breach of duty of the employment contract.
Other than the CEO, no employee, including any member of the Company's senior management team, has entered
into employment agreements which provide for any special benefits upon termination. None of the members of the
Board of Directors have service contracts with the Company and none will be entitled to any benefits upon termination
of office.
9.7

Corporate governance

The Company is not subject to the Corporate Governance Code, but the Company intends over time to implement
the recommendations of the Corporate Governance Code and adopt a corporate governance policy.
9.8

Conflicts of interests etc.

No member of the Board of Directors or Management has, or has had, as applicable, during the last five years
preceding the date of the Information Document:
•

any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences;

•

received any official public incrimination and/or sanctions by any statutory or regulatory authorities
(including designated professional bodies) or was disqualified by a court from acting as a member of the
administrative, management or supervisory bodies of a company or from acting in the management or
conduct of the affairs of any company; or

•

been declared bankrupt or been associated with any bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation in his or her
capacity as a founder, member of the administrative body or supervisory body, director or senior manager
of a company.

To the Company's knowledge, there are currently no actual or potential conflicts of interest between the Company
and the private interests or other duties of any of the Board Members and members of the Management, including
any family relationships between such persons.
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10

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

10.1

Corporate information

The Company's legal name is Sonans Holding AS and the Company's commercial name is Sonans. The Company is
a private limited liability company (Nw.: aksjeselskap), validly incorporated and existing under the laws of Norway
and in accordance with the Companies Act. The Company is registered in the Norwegian Register of Business
Enterprises with company registration number 919 871 237. The Company was incorporated on 27 October 2017.
The Company's registered business address is Sandakerveien 116, 0484 Oslo, Norway, which is the Group's principal
place of business. The telephone number to the Company's principal offices is +47 915 04 070 and its website is
"https://www.sonans.no/".
The Shares are registered in book-entry form with VPS under ISIN NO NO0010927288. The Company's register of
shareholders in VPS is administrated by the VPS Registrar, Nordea Bank Abp, filial i Norge, Essendrops gate 7, 0368,
Oslo, Norway. The Company's LEI-code is 984500558A4B099PCC34.
10.2

Legal structure

The Company is the direct and indirect parent company of the subsidiaries set out in the table below. Reference is
made to section 7.7 (Group organisation) above for a complete structure chart of the Group.
Ownership
interest

Company name

Registered office

Activity

Sonans Holdco AS ..............................................

Sandakerveien 116

Trading and investment in

0484 Oslo

real

property,

100%

Shareholder
Sonans
Holding AS

securities,

and other assets.
Sonans Midco AS ................................................

Sandakerveien 116

Trading and investment in

0484 Oslo

real

property,

100%

Sonans
Holdco AS

securities,

and other assets.
Sonans Bidco AS .................................................

Sandakerveien 116

Trading and investment in

0484 Oslo

real

property,

100%

Sonans
Midco AS

securities,

and other assets.
Sonans Gruppen AS ..........................................
Bjørknes Høyskole AS ......................................

Kjøpmannsgata 65

Investment

7011 Trondheim

companies and assets.

in

Lovisenberggata 13

Teaching

0456 Oslo

education,

within

other

100%

higher

100%

research

professional

Sonans Bidco
AS
Sonans Bidco
AS

and

development,

and other activities being
naturally

associated

with

this.
Bjørknes Education AS .....................................

Lovisenberggata 13

Educational
services,
development of teaching aid
and counselling services
within
competence
development, and other
activities naturally being
associated with this.

100%

Kjøpmannsgata 65

Teaching

100%

7011 Trondheim

other

0456 Oslo

Sonans Privatgymnas AS ................................

and

trade

activities

and

Sonans Bidco
AS

Sonans
Gruppen AS

naturally

being associated with this,
and participation in other
companies

carrying

out

similar activities.
Norwegian School of Technology AS .........

Kjøpmannsgata 65

Operation

of

7011 Trondheim

school

and

vocational
other

100%

Sonans
Gruppen AS

educational activities, and
other

activities

naturally

being associated with this,
including

investment

participation

in

and
other

companies.
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10.3

Share capital and share capital history

10.3.1

Overview

As of the date of this Information Document, the Company's registered share capital is NOK 15,201,401.88, divided
into 36,193,814 shares, each with a par value of NOK 0.42. All of the Shares have been created under the Norwegian
Private Companies Act, and are validly issued and fully paid.
The Company has one class of shares, and accordingly there are no differences in the voting rights among the Shares.
The Company's shares are freely transferable, meaning that a transfer of Shares is not subject to the consent of the
Board of Directors or rights of first refusal. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Company's shares shall be
registered in the VPS.
10.3.2

Share capital history

The table below shows the development in the Company's share capital for the period covered by the Financial
Statements to the date of the Information Document. There have not been any other capital increases in the Company
other than as set out in the table below, neither by way of contribution in cash or in kind for the period covered by
the Financial Statements until the date of this Information Document.
Nominal
Date of
registration

Type of change

New number

Change in share

New share capital

value

of total

capital (NOK)

(NOK)

(NOK)

issued shares

21.08.2019

Share capital increase

445,732.84

2,994,664.22

0.01

299,466,422

03.10.2019

Share capital increase

365.00

2,995,029.22

0.01

299,502,922

15.02.2021

Share split, bonus issue

10,526,372.66

13,521,401.88

0.42

32,193,814

1,680,000.00

15,201,401.88

0.42

36,193,814

and share consolidation
16.02.2021

10.4

Share capital increase

Ownership structure

Following settlement in the Private Placement, no shareholder other than the Principle Selling Shareholder (approx.
14%), DNB Asset Management AS (7.46%) and Capital World Investors (5.53%) will hold more than 5% of the
Shares in the Company.
As of the date of this Information Document, the Company holds 193,814 treasury shares.
As at the date of this Information Document, there is no natural person with a direct or indirect shareholding or an
ownership interest of more than 25% in the Company.
There are no arrangements known to the Company that may lead to a change of control in the Company.
10.5

Authorisations

10.5.1

Authorisation to increase the share capital

As at the date of this Information Document, the Board of Directors holds authorisations to increase the share capital
by up to NOK 500,000. The authorisation is valid until 20 June 2021.
10.5.2

Authorisation to acquire treasury shares

As at the date of this Information Document, the Board of Directors does not hold any authorisations to acquire
Shares in the Company.
10.6

Financial instruments

Neither the Company nor any of the Company's subsidiaries has issued any options, warrants, convertible loans or
other instruments that would entitle a holder of any such instrument to subscribe for any shares in the Company or
its subsidiaries.
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10.7

Shareholder rights

The Company has one class of shares in issue and all Shares provide equal rights in the Company, including the
rights to any dividends. Each of the Company's shares carries one vote. The rights attached to the Shares are further
described in Section 10.8 ("The Articles of Association") and Section 10.9 ("Certain aspects of Norwegian corporate
law").
10.8

The Articles of Association

The Articles of Association are enclosed in Appendix A to the Information Document. Below is a summary of the
provisions of the Articles of Association as of 12 February 2021.
10.8.1

Objective of the Company

The Company's business objective is to conduct business within development and investment in other companies
and everything in connection with this, including owning shares in other companies.
10.8.2

Share capital and par value

The Company's share capital is NOK 15,201,401.88 divided into 36,193,814 shares, each with a nominal value of
NOK 0.42.
The Shares shall be registered with a central securities depository (the Norwegian Central Securities Depository
(VPS)) and are freely transferable.
10.8.3

The board of directors

The Board of Directors shall consist of at least three members.
10.8.4

Signatory right

The authority to sign on behalf of the Company is held by chairman of the board solely or two board members
jointly.
10.8.5

General meetings

Documents concerning matters to be considered at the Company's general meeting, including documents which by
law must be included in or enclosed with the notice of the general meeting, need not be sent to shareholders if the
documents are made available on the Company's website. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a shareholder may request
a copy of documents which concern matters to be considered at the general meeting.
The annual general meeting shall deal with and decide the following matters:
•

Approval of the annual accounts and the annual report, including distribution of dividend;

•

Appointment of board members; and

•

Any other matters, which according to the law or the articles of association fall within the responsibility of
the general meeting.

10.9

Certain aspects of Norwegian corporate law

10.9.1

General meetings

Through the general meeting, shareholders exercise supreme authority in a Norwegian company. In accordance with
Norwegian law, the annual general meeting of shareholders is required to be held each year on or prior to 30 June.
Norwegian law requires that a written notice of annual general meetings setting forth the time of, the venue for and
the agenda of the meeting is sent to all shareholders with a known address no later than fourteen days before the
annual general meeting of a Norwegian private limited liability company shall be held, unless the articles of
association stipulate a longer deadline, which is not currently the case for the Company.
A shareholder may vote at the general meeting either in person or by proxy (the proxy holder is appointed at their
own discretion). Although Norwegian law does not require the Company to send proxy forms to its shareholders for
general meetings, the Company plans to include a proxy form with notices of general meetings. All of the Company's
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shareholders who are registered in the shareholders' register kept and maintained with VPS as of the date of the
general meeting, or who otherwise have reported and documented ownership of shares in the Company, are entitled
to participate at general meetings, without any requirement of pre-registration.
Apart from the annual general meeting, extraordinary general meetings of shareholders may be held if the Board of
Directors considers it necessary. An extraordinary general meeting of shareholders shall also be convened if, in order
to discuss a specified matter, the auditor or shareholders representing at least 10% of the share capital demands
such in writing. The requirements for notice and admission to the annual general meeting also apply to extraordinary
general meetings.
10.9.2

Voting rights – amendments to the articles of association

Each Share carries one vote. In general, decisions shareholders are entitled to make under Norwegian law or the
articles of association may be made by a simple majority of the votes cast. In the case of elections or appointments
(e.g. to the board of directors), the person(s) who receive(s) the greatest number of votes cast is elected. However,
as required under Norwegian law, certain decisions, including resolutions to waive preferential rights to subscribe for
shares in connection with any share issue in the Company, to approve a merger or demerger of the Company, to
amend the articles of association, to authorize an increase or reduction of the share capital, to authorize an issuance
of convertible loans or warrants by the Company or to authorize the Board of Directors to purchase Shares and hold
them as treasury shares or to dissolve the Company, must receive the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate
number of votes cast as well as at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the general meeting in question.
Moreover, Norwegian law requires that certain decisions, i.e. decisions that have the effect of substantially altering
the rights and preferences of any shares or class of shares, receive the approval by the holders of such shares or
class of shares as well as the majority required for amending the articles of association.
Decisions that (i) would reduce the rights of some or all of the Company's shareholders in respect of dividend
payments or other rights to assets or (ii) restrict the transferability of the Shares, require that at least 90% of the
share capital represented at the general meeting in question vote in favour of the resolution, as well as the majority
required for amending the articles of association.
In general, only a shareholder registered in VPS is entitled to vote for such Shares. Beneficial owners of the Shares
that are registered in the name of a nominee are generally not entitled to vote under Norwegian law, nor is any
person who is designated in the VPS register as the holder of such Shares as nominees.
There are no quorum requirements that apply to the general meetings.
10.9.3

Additional issuances and preferential rights

If the Company issues any new Shares, including bonus share issues, the Company's Articles of Association must be
amended, which requires the same vote as other amendments to the articles of association. In addition, under
Norwegian law, the Company's shareholders have a preferential right to subscribe for new Shares issued by the
Company. The preferential rights may be deviated from by a resolution in the general meeting passed with the same
vote required to amend the articles of association. A deviation of the shareholders' preferential rights in respect of
bonus issues requires the approval of all outstanding Shares.
The general meeting may, by the same vote as is required for amending the articles of association, authorize the
board of directors to issue new Shares, and to deviate from the preferential rights of shareholders in connection with
such issuances. Such authorisation may be effective for a maximum of two years, and the nominal value of the
Shares to be issued may not exceed 50% of the registered par share capital when the authorisation is registered
with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises.
Under Norwegian law, the Company may increase its share capital by a bonus share issue, subject to approval by
the Company's shareholders, by transfer from the Company's distributable equity or from the Company's share
premium reserve and thus the share capital increase does not require any payment of a subscription price by the
shareholders. Any bonus issues may be affected either by issuing new shares to the Company's existing shareholders
or by increasing the nominal value of the Company's outstanding Shares.
Issuance of new Shares to shareholders who are citizens or residents of the United States and other jurisdictions
upon the exercise of preferential rights may require the Company to file a registration statement or prospectus in
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the United States under United States securities laws or in such other jurisdictions under the laws of such
jurisdictions. Should the Company in such a situation decide not to file a registration statement or prospectus, the
Company's U.S. shareholders and shareholders in such other jurisdictions may not be able to exercise their
preferential rights. To the extent that shareholders are not able to exercise their rights to subscribe for new shares,
the value of their subscription rights will be lost and such shareholders' proportional ownership interests in the
Company will be reduced.
10.9.4

Minority rights

Norwegian law sets forth a number of protections for minority shareholders of the Company, including, but not limited
to, those described in this paragraph and the description of general meetings as set out above. Any of the Company's
shareholders may petition Norwegian courts to have a decision of the board of directors or the Company's
shareholders made at the general meeting declared invalid on the grounds that it unreasonably favours certain
shareholders or third parties to the detriment of other shareholders or the Company itself. The Company's
shareholders may also petition the courts to dissolve the Company as a result of such decisions to the extent
particularly strong reasons are considered by the court to make necessary dissolution of the Company.
Minority shareholders holding 10% or more of the Company's share capital have a right to demand in writing that
the Board of Directors convenes an extraordinary general meeting to discuss or resolve specific matters. In addition,
any of the Company's shareholders may in writing demand that the Company place an item on the agenda for any
general meeting as long as the Company is notified in time for such item to be included in the notice of the meeting.
If the notice has been issued when such a written demand is presented, a renewed notice must be issued if the
deadline for issuing notice of the general meeting has not expired.
10.9.5

Rights of redemption and repurchase of shares

The share capital of the Company may be reduced by reducing the nominal value of the Shares or by cancelling
Shares. Such a decision requires the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast and at
least two-thirds of the share capital represented at a general meeting. Redemption of individual Shares requires the
consent of the holders of the Shares to be redeemed.
The Company may purchase its own Shares provided that the Board of Directors has been granted an authorisation
to do so by a general meeting with the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast and at
least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the meeting. The aggregate nominal value of treasury shares so
acquired, and held by the Company must not lead to the share capital with deduction of the aggregate nominal of
the holding of own shares is less than the minimum allowed share capital of NOK 30,000, and treasury shares may
only be acquired if the Company's distributable equity, according to the latest adopted balance sheet, exceeds the
consideration to be paid for the shares. The authorisation by the general meeting of the Company's shareholders
cannot be granted for a period exceeding two years.
10.9.6

Shareholder vote on certain reorganizations

A decision of the Company's shareholders to merge with another company or to demerge requires a resolution by
the general meeting passed by at least two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast and at least two-thirds of the share
capital represented at the general meeting. A merger plan, or demerger plan signed by the Board of Directors along
with certain other required documentation, would have to be sent to all the Company's shareholders, or if the articles
of association stipulate that, made available to the shareholders on the Company's website, at least one month prior
to the general meeting to pass upon the matter.
10.9.7

Liability of board members

Board Members owe a fiduciary duty to the Company and its shareholders. Such fiduciary duty requires that the
Board Members act in the best interests of the Company when exercising their functions and exercise a general duty
of loyalty and care towards the Company. Their principal task is to safeguard the interests of the Company.
Board members may each be held liable for any damage they negligently or wilfully cause the Company. Norwegian
law permits the general meeting to discharge any such person from liability, but such discharge is not binding on the
Company if substantially correct and complete information was not provided at the general meeting passing upon
the matter. If a resolution to discharge the Board Members from liability or not to pursue claims against such a
person has been passed by a general meeting with a smaller majority than that required to amend the articles of
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association, shareholders representing more than 10% of the share capital or, if there are more than 100
shareholders, more than 10% of the shareholders may pursue the claim on the Company's behalf and in its name.
The cost of any such action is not the Company's responsibility but can be recovered from any proceeds the Company
receives as a result of the action. If the decision to discharge any of the Board Members from liability or not to pursue
claims against the Board Members is made by such a majority as is necessary to amend the articles of association,
the minority shareholders of the Company cannot pursue such claim in the Company's name.
10.9.8

Indemnification of board members

Neither Norwegian law nor the Articles of Association contains any provision concerning indemnification by the
Company of the Board of Directors. The Company is permitted to purchase insurance for the Board Members against
certain liabilities that they may incur in their capacity as such.
10.9.9

Distribution of assets on liquidation

Under Norwegian law, the Company may be wound-up by a resolution of the Company's shareholders at the general
meeting passed by at least two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast and at least two-thirds of the share capital
represented at the meeting. In the event of liquidation, the Shares rank equally in the event of a return on capital.
10.9.10

Distribution of dividends

Pursuant to the Companies Act, dividends may only be declared to the extent that the Company has distributable
funds and the Board of Directors finds such a declaration to be prudent in consideration of the size, nature, scope
and risks associated with the Company's operations and the need to strengthen its liquidity and financial position.
Apart from this, there are no formal restrictions on the distribution of dividends. However, as the Company's ability
to pay dividends is dependent on the availability of distributable reserves, it is, among other things, dependent upon
receipt of dividends and other distributions of value from its subsidiaries and companies in which the Company may
invest. See Section 5 ("Dividends and dividend policy") for more information on the Company's dividend policy.
10.9.11

Takeover bids and forced transfers of shares

The Company is not subject to the takeover regulations set out in the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, or otherwise.
The Shares are, however, subject to the provisions on compulsory transfer of shares as set out in the Companies
Act. If a private limited liability company alone, or through subsidiaries, owns 9/10 or more of the shares in the
subsidiary, and may exercise a corresponding part of the votes that may be cast in the general meeting, the board
of directors of the parent company may resolve that the parent company shall take over the remaining shares in the
company. Each of the other shareholders in the subsidiary have the right to require the parent company to take over
the shares. The parent company shall give the shareholders a redemption offer pursuant to the provisions of the
Companies Act. The redemption amount will in the absence of agreement or acceptance of the offer be fixed by a
discretionary valuation.

44

11

NORWEGIAN TAXATION

This section describes certain tax rules in Norway applicable to shareholders who are resident in Norway for tax
purposes ("Norwegian Shareholders") and to shareholders who are not resident in Norway for tax purposes ("NonResident Shareholders"). The statements herein regarding taxation are based on the laws in force in Norway as
of the date of this Information Document and are subject to any changes in law occurring after such date. Such
changes could possibly be made on a retrospective basis. The following summary does not purport to be a
comprehensive description of all the tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to purchase, own or
dispose of the Shares. Investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors concerning the overall tax
consequences of their ownership of Shares. The statements only apply to shareholders who are beneficial owners of
Shares. Please note that for the purpose of the summary below, references to Norwegian Shareholders or NonResident Shareholders refers to the tax residency rather than the nationality of the shareholder. Please also note
that the tax legislation in the Company's jurisdiction of incorporation and the tax legislation in the jurisdictions in
which the shareholders are resident for tax purposes may have an impact on the income received from the Shares.
11.1

Norwegian shareholders

11.1.1

Taxation of dividends

Shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain similar entities) domiciled in Norway for tax purposes
("Norwegian Corporate Shareholders") are comprised by the Norwegian participation exemption. Under the
exemption, only 3% of dividend income received from Norwegian limited liability companies are subject to tax as
ordinary income. The income is taxed at a flat rate of 22% flat rate (as of 2021), implying that dividends received
are effectively taxed at a rate of 0.66%. For Norwegian Corporate Shareholders that are considered to be "Financial
Institutions" under the Norwegian financial activity tax the effective rate of taxation for dividends is 0.75%.
Dividends distributed to Norwegian shareholders other than Norwegian Corporate Shareholders Norwegian
Individual Shareholders") are grossed up with a factor of 1.44 before taxed as ordinary income (22% flat rate,
resulting in an effective tax rate of 31.68%) to the extent the dividend exceeds a tax-free allowance.
The tax-free allowance is calculated on a share-by-share basis for each individual shareholder on the basis of the
cost price of each of the Shares multiplied by a risk-free interest rate. The risk-free interest rate is based on the
effective rate of interest on treasury bills (Nw.: statskasseveksler) with three months maturity plus 0.5 percentage
points, after tax. The tax-free allowance is calculated for each calendar year and is allocated solely to Norwegian
Individual Shareholders holding Shares at the expiration of the relevant calendar year. Norwegian Individual
Shareholders who transfer Shares will thus not be entitled to deduct any calculated allowance related to the year of
transfer. Any part of the calculated tax-free allowance one year exceeding the dividend distributed on the Share
("unused allowance") may be carried forward and set off against future dividends received on (or gains upon
realization of, see below) the same Share. Any unused allowance will also be added to the basis of computation of
the tax-free allowance on the same Share the following year.
The Shares will not qualify for Norwegian share saving accounts (Nw.: aksjesparekonto) for Norwegian Individual
Shareholders as the shares are listed on Euronext Growth (and not Oslo Børs or Euronext Expand).
11.1.2

Taxation of capital gains

Sale, redemption or other disposal of Shares is considered as a realization for Norwegian tax purposes.
Capital gains generated by Norwegian Corporate Shareholders through a realization of shares in Norwegian limited
liability companies, such as the Company, are comprised by the Norwegian participation exemption and therefore
tax exempt. Net losses from realization of Shares and costs incurred in connection with the purchase and realization
of such Shares are not tax deductible for Norwegian Corporate Shareholders.
Norwegian Individual Shareholders are taxable in Norway for capital gains derived from realization of Shares, and
have a corresponding right to deduct losses. This applies irrespective of how long the Shares have been owned by
the individual shareholder and irrespective of how many Shares that are realized. Gains are taxable as ordinary
income in the year of realization and losses can be deducted from ordinary income in the year of realization. Any
gain or loss is grossed up with a factor of 1.44 before taxed at a rate of 22% (resulting in an effective tax rate of
31.68%). Under current tax rules, gain or loss is calculated per Share, as the difference between the consideration
received for the Share and the Norwegian Individual Shareholder's cost price for the Share, including costs incurred
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in connection with the acquisition or realization of the Share. Any unused tax-free allowance connected to a Share
may be deducted from a capital gain on the same Share, but may not create or increase a deductible loss. Further,
unused tax-free allowance related to a Share cannot be set off against gains from realization of other Shares.
If a Norwegian shareholder realizes Shares acquired at different points in time, the Shares that were first acquired
will be deemed as first sold (the "first in first out"-principle) upon calculating taxable gain or loss. Costs incurred in
connection with the purchase and sale of Shares may be deducted in the year of sale.
A shareholder who ceases to be tax resident in Norway due to domestic law or tax treaty provisions may become
subject to Norwegian exit taxation of capital gains related to shares in certain circumstances.
11.1.3

Net wealth tax

The value of Shares is taken into account for net wealth tax purposes in Norway. The marginal net wealth tax rate
is currently 0.85% of the value assessed. For assessment purposes for the Shares are valued to 55% of the total tax
value of the Company as of 1 January of the year before the tax assessment year. However, if the share capital in
the Company has been increased or reduced by payment from or to shareholders in the year before the tax
assessment year, the Shares are valued to 55% of the total tax value of the Company as of 1 January of the tax
assessment year. The value of debt allocated to the Shares for Norwegian wealth tax purposes is reduced
correspondingly (i.e. to 55%).
Norwegian limited liability companies and similar entities are exempted from net wealth tax.
11.2

Non-Resident Shareholders

11.2.1

Taxation of dividends

Dividends paid from a Norwegian limited liability company to shareholders who are not resident in Norway for tax
purposes ("Non-Resident Shareholders") are generally subject to Norwegian withholding tax at a rate of 25%
unless the recipient qualifies for a reduced rate according to an applicable tax treaty or other specific regulations.
The shareholder's country of residence may give credit for the Norwegian withholding tax imposed on the dividend.
If a Non-Resident Shareholder is carrying on business activities in Norway and the Shares are effectively connected
with such activities, the Non-Resident Shareholder will be subject to the same taxation of dividend as a Norwegian
Shareholder, as described above.
Non-Resident Shareholders that are corporate shareholders (i.e. limited liability companies and similar entities)
("Foreign Corporate Shareholders") resident within the EEA are exempt from Norwegian withholding tax pursuant
to the Norwegian participation exemption provided that the Foreign Corporate Shareholder is genuinely established
and carries out genuine economic activities within the EEA.
Dividends paid to Non-Resident Shareholders that are individual shareholders (i.e. shareholders who are natural
persons) ("Foreign Individual Shareholders") are as the main rule subject to Norwegian withholding tax at a rate
of 25%, unless a lower rate has been agreed in an applicable tax treaty. If the individual shareholder is resident
within the EEA, the shareholder may apply to the tax authorities for a refund of an amount corresponding to the
calculated tax-free allowance on each individual share, see Section 11.1.1 ("Taxation of dividends"). However, the
deduction for the tax-free allowance does not apply in the event that the withholding tax rate, pursuant to an
applicable tax treaty, leads to a lower taxation on the dividends than the withholding tax rate of 25% less the taxfree allowance.
In accordance with the present administrative system in Norway, a distributing company will generally deduct
withholding tax at the applicable rate when dividends are paid directly to an eligible Foreign Shareholder, based on
information registered with the VPS. Foreign Corporate and Individual Shareholders must document their entitlement
to a reduced withholding tax rate by (i) obtaining a certificate of residence issued by the tax authorities in the
shareholder's country of residence, confirming that the shareholder is resident in that state, which cannot be older
than three years, and (ii) providing a confirmation from the shareholder that the shareholder is the beneficial owner
of the dividend. In addition, Foreign Corporate Shareholders must also present either (i) an approved withholding
tax refund application or (ii) an approval from the Norwegian tax authorities confirming that the recipient is entitled
to a reduced withholding tax rate or a withholding tax exemption. Such documentation must be provided to either
the nominee or the account operator (VPS). Dividends paid to Non-Resident Shareholders in respect of nominee
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registered shares are not eligible for reduced treaty withholding tax rate at the time of payment unless the nominee,
by agreeing to provide certain information regarding the beneficial owner, has obtained approval for reduced treaty
withholding tax rate from the Norwegian tax authorities. The withholding obligation lies with the company distributing
the dividends and the Company assumes this obligation.
Foreign Individual and Corporate Shareholders who have suffered a higher withholding tax than set out in an
applicable tax treaty may apply to the Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of the excess withholding tax deducted.
The same will apply to Foreign Corporate Shareholders that have suffered withholding tax although qualifying for the
Norwegian participation exemption.
Non-Resident Shareholders should consult their own advisers regarding the availability of treaty benefits in respect
of dividend payments.
11.2.2

Taxation of capital gains

Gains from realization of Shares by Non-Resident Shareholders will not be subject to tax in Norway unless the NonResident Shareholders are holding the Shares in connection with business activities carried out or managed from
Norway. Such taxation may be limited according to an applicable tax treaty or other specific regulations.
11.2.3

Net wealth tax

Non-Resident Shareholders are not subject to Norwegian net wealth tax with respect to the Shares, unless the
shareholder is an individual, and the shareholding is effectively connected with a business which the shareholder
takes part in or carries out in Norway. Such taxation may be limited according to an applicable tax treaty.
11.3

Transfer taxes etc. VAT

No transfer taxes, stamp duty or similar taxes are currently imposed in Norway on purchase, issuance, disposal or
redemption of shares. Further, there is no VAT on transfer of shares.
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12

SELLING AND TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

12.1

General

As a consequence of the following restrictions, prospective investors are advised to consult legal counsel prior to
making any offer, resale, pledge or other transfer of the Shares admitted to trading on Euronext Growth.
The Company is not taking any action to permit a public offering of the Shares in any jurisdiction. Receipt of this
Information Document does not constitute an offer and this Information Document is for information only and should
not be copied or redistributed. If an investor receives a copy of this Information Document, the investor may not
treat this Information Document as constituting an invitation or offer to it, nor should the investor in any event deal
in the Shares, unless, in the relevant jurisdiction, the Shares could lawfully be dealt in without contravention of any
unfulfilled registration or other legal requirements. Accordingly, if an investor receives a copy of this Information
Document, the investor should not distribute or send the same, or transfer Shares, to any person or in or into any
jurisdiction where to do so would or might contravene local securities laws or regulations.
12.2

Selling restrictions

12.2.1

United States

The Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act or with any securities regulatory
authority of any state or other jurisdiction in the United States, and may not be offered or sold except: (i) within the
United States to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A or pursuant to another available exemption from the registration
requirements of the U.S. Securities Act; or (ii) outside the United States to certain persons in offshore transactions
in compliance with Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act, and, in accordance with any applicable securities laws
of any state or territory of the United States or any other jurisdiction. Accordingly, the Euronext Advisors have
represented and agreed that it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, any of the Shares as part of its
allocation at any time other than (i) within the United States to QIBs in accordance with Rule 144A or (ii) outside of
the United States in compliance with Rule 903 of Regulation S. Transfer of the Shares will be restricted and each
purchaser of the Shares in the United States will be required to make certain acknowledgements, representations
and agreements, as described under Section 12.3.1 ("United States"). Nordea Bank Abp, filial i Norge has not and
will not participate in any offer or sale of Shares in the United States. No action taken by the Company or the other
Euronext Advisor in the United States shall be attributed to Nordea Bank Abp, filial i Norge.
12.2.2

United Kingdom

No Shares have been offered or will be offered pursuant to an offering to the public in the United Kingdom, except
that the Shares may be offered to the public in the United Kingdom at any time in reliance on the following exemptions
under the UK Prospectus Regulation:
a)

to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined under Article 2 of the UK Prospectus Regulation;

b)

to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined under Article 2 of the
UK Prospectus Regulation), subject to obtaining the prior consent of the Euronext Advisors for any such
offer; or

c)

in any other circumstances falling within Section 86 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000
("FSMA").

provided that no such offer of the Shares shall result in a requirement for the Company or Euronext Advisors to
publish a prospectus pursuant to Section 85 of the FSMA or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the
UK Prospectus Regulation.
For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer to the public" in relation to the Shares in the United
Kingdom means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer
and any Shares to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for any Shares and the
expression “UK Prospectus Regulation” means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue
of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018.
The Euronext Advisors has represented, warranted and agreed that:
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a)

it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be
communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section
21 of the FSMA) in connection with the issue or sale of any Shares in circumstances in which Section 21(1)
of the FSMA does not apply to the Company; and

b)

it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by
it in relation to the Shares in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Nordea Bank Abp, which is under the supervision of the European Central Bank together with the Finnish Financial
Supervisory Authority, and authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority ("PRA") and regulated in the United
Kingdom by the PRA and the Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA"), is acting exclusively for the Company and no one
else in connection with any potential transaction referred to herein. The Euronext Advisors will not regard any other
person (whether or not a recipient of this Information Document) as a client in relation to such potential transaction
and will not be responsible to anyone other than the Company for providing the protections afforded to its clients
nor for the giving of advice in relation to such potential transaction or any other transaction, matter or arrangement
referred to in this Information Document.
In the United Kingdom, this Information Document is addressed to and directed only at parties who (i) are persons
who have professional experience in matters relating to investments falling within Article 19(5) of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 (the "Order"), (ii) are persons who are high net
worth entities falling within Article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order, or (iii) are other persons to whom this Information
Document may otherwise lawfully be communicated (all such persons together being referred to as "Relevant
Persons").
12.2.3

European Economic Area

In no member state (each a "Relevant Member State") of the European Economic Area (the "EEA") have Shares
been offered and in no Relevant Member State other than Norway will Shares be offered to the public pursuant to an
offering, except that Shares may be offered to the public in that Relevant Member State at any time in reliance on
the following exemptions under the EU Prospectus Regulation:
a)

to persons who are "qualified investors" within the meaning of Article 2(e) in the EU Prospectus Regulation;

b)

to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the EU Prospectus
Regulation) per Relevant Member State, with the prior written consent of the Euronext Advisors for any
such offer; or

c)

in any other circumstances falling under the scope of Article 3(2) of the EU Prospectus Regulation;

provided that no such offer of Shares shall result in a requirement for the Company or Euronext Advisors to publish
a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the EU Prospectus Regulation or supplementary prospectus pursuant to Article
23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation.
For the purpose of this provision, the expression an "offer to the public" in relation to any Shares in any Relevant
Member State means a communication to persons in any form and by any means presenting sufficient information
on the terms of the offering and the Shares to be offered, so as to enable an investor to decide to acquire any Shares.
This EEA selling restriction is in addition to any other selling restrictions set out in this Information Document.
12.2.3.2

Other jurisdictions

The Shares may not be offered, sold, resold, transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, in or into, Switzerland,
Japan, Canada, Australia or any other jurisdiction in which it would not be permissible to offer the Shares.
In jurisdictions outside the United States and the EEA where an offering would be permissible, the Shares will only
be offered pursuant to applicable exceptions from prospectus requirements in such jurisdictions.
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12.3

Transfer restrictions

12.3.1

United States

The Shares have not been, and will not be, registered under the U.S. Securities Act or with any securities regulatory
authority of any state or other jurisdiction in the United States, and may not be offered or sold except: (i) within the
United States only to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A or pursuant to another exemption from the registration
requirements of the U.S. Securities Act; and (ii) outside the United States in compliance with Regulation S, and in
each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state or territory of the United States or any other
jurisdiction. Terms defined in Rule 144A or Regulation S shall have the same meaning when used in this section.
Each purchaser of the Shares outside the United States pursuant to Regulation S will be deemed to have
acknowledged, represented and agreed that it has received a copy of this Information Document and such other
information as it deems necessary to make an informed investment decision and that:
-

The purchaser is authorized to consummate the purchase of the Shares in compliance with all applicable laws
and regulations.

-

The purchaser acknowledges that the Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities
Act, or with any securities, regulatory authority or any state of the United States, subject to certain exceptions,
may not be offered or sold within the United States.

-

The purchaser is, and the person, if any, for whose account or benefit the purchaser is acquiring the Shares,
was located outside the United States at the time the buy order for the Shares was originated and continues to
be located outside the United States and has not purchased the Shares for the account or benefit of any person
in the United States or entered into any arrangement for the transfer of the Shares or any economic interest
therein to any person in the United States.

-

The purchaser is not an affiliate of the Company or a person acting on behalf of such affiliate, and is not in the
business of buying and selling securities or, if it is in such business, it did not acquire the Shares from the
Company or an affiliate thereof in the initial distribution of such Shares.

-

The purchaser is aware of the restrictions on the offer and sale of the Shares pursuant to Regulation S described
in this Information Document.

-

The Shares have not been offered to it by means of any "directed selling efforts" as defined in Regulation S.

-

The Company shall not recognize any offer, sale, pledge or other transfer of the Shares made other than in
compliance with the above restrictions.

-

If the purchaser is acquiring any of the Shares as a fiduciary or agent for one or more accounts, the purchaser
represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each such account and that it has full power to
make the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements in behalf of each such account.

-

The purchaser acknowledges that the Company, the Euronext Advisors and their respective advisers will rely
upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements.

Each purchaser of the Shares within the United States purchasing pursuant to Rule 144A or another available
exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act will be
deemed to have acknowledged, represented and agreed that it has received a copy of this Information Document
and such other information as it deems necessary to make an informed investment decision and that:
-

The purchaser is authorized to consummate the purchase of the Shares in compliance with all applicable laws
and regulations.

-

The purchaser acknowledges that the Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities
Act or with any securities regulatory authority of any state of the United States and are subject to significant
restrictions to transfer.
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-

The purchaser (i) is a QIB (as defined in Rule 144A), (ii) is aware that the sale to it is being made in reliance on
Rule 144A and (iii) is acquiring such Shares for its own account or for the account of a QIB, in each case for
investment and not with a view to any resale or distribution to the Shares, as the case may be.

-

The purchaser is aware that the Shares are being offered in the United States in a transaction not involving any
public offering in the United States within the meaning of the U.S. Securities Act.

-

If, in the future, the purchaser decides to offer, resell, pledge or otherwise transfer such Shares, or any economic
interest therein, as the case may be, such Shares or any economic interest therein may be offered, sold, pledged
or otherwise transferred only (i) to a person whom the beneficial owner and/or any person acting on its behalf
reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A, (ii) outside the United
States in a transaction meeting the requirements of Regulation S, (iii) in accordance with Rule 144 (if available),
(iv) pursuant to any other exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act, subject to
the receipt by the Company of an opinion of counsel or such other evidence that the Company may reasonably
require that such sale or transfer is in compliance with the U.S. Securities Act or (v) pursuant to an effective
registration statement under the U.S. Securities Act, in each case in accordance with any applicable securities
laws of any state or territory of the United States or any other jurisdiction.

-

The purchaser is not an affiliate of the Company or a person acting on behalf of such affiliate, and is not in the
business of buying and selling securities or, if it is in such business, it did not acquire the Shares from the
Company or an affiliate thereof in the initial distribution of such Shares.

-

The purchaser will not deposit or cause to be deposited such Shares into any depositary receipt facility
established or maintained by a depository bank other than a Rule 144A restricted depository receipt facility, so
long as such Shares are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144(a) (3) under the U.S. Securities
Act.

-

The purchaser acknowledges that the Shares are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144(a) (3)
and no representation is made as to the availability of the exemption provided by Rule 144 for resales of any
Shares, as the case may be.

-

The purchaser acknowledges that the Company shall not recognize any offer, sale pledge or other transfer of
the Shares made other than in compliance with the above-stated restrictions.

-

If the purchaser is requiring any of the Shares as a fiduciary or agent for one or more accounts, the purchaser
represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each such account and that it has full power to
make the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements on behalf of each such account.

-

The purchaser acknowledges that these representations and undertakings are required in connection with the
securities laws of the United States and that Company, the Euronext Advisors and their respective advisers will
rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements.

12.3.2

European Economic Area

Each person in a Relevant Member State who receives any communication in respect of, or who acquires any Shares
under, the offers contemplated in this Information Document will be deemed to have represented, warranted and
agreed to and with the Euronext Advisors and the Company that:
a)

it is a qualified investor within the meaning of Articles 2(e) of the EU Prospectus Regulation; and

b)

in the case of any Shares acquired by it as a financial intermediary, as that term is used in Article 1 of the
EU Prospectus Regulation, (i) the Shares acquired by it in an offer have not been acquired on behalf of,
nor have they been acquired with a view to their offer or resale to, persons in any Relevant Member State
other than qualified investors, as that term is defined in the EU Prospectus Regulation, or in circumstances
in which the prior consent of the Euronext Advisors has been given to the offer or resale; or (ii) where
Shares have been acquired by it on behalf of persons in any Relevant Member State other than qualified
investors, the offer of those Shares to it is not treated under the EU Prospectus Regulation as having been
made to such persons.
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For the purpose of this representation, the expression an "offer to the public" in relation to any Shares in any Relevant
Member State means a communication to persons in any form and by any means presenting sufficient information
on terms of an offering and the Shares to be offered, so as to enable an investor to decide to acquire any Shares.
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13

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

13.1

Admission to Euronext Growth

On 3 February 2021, the Company applied for Admission to Euronext Growth. The first day of trading on Euronext
Growth is expected to be on or about 17 February 2021.
Neither the Company nor any other entity of the Group have securities listed on any stock exchange or other
regulated market place.
13.2

Information sourced from third parties and expert opinions

In this Information Document, certain information has been sourced from third parties. The Company confirms that
where information has been sourced from a third party, such information has been accurately reproduced and that
as far as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by that third party, no facts have
been omitted that would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. Where information sourced
from third parties has been presented, the source of such information has been identified.
The Company confirms that no statement or report attributed to a person as an expert is included in this Information
Document.
13.3

Independent auditor

The Company's independent auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers AS (business registration number 987 009 713, and
registered

business

address

at

Dronning

Eufemias

gate

71,

0194

Oslo,

Norway).

The

partners

of

PricewaterhouseCoopers AS are members of The Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants (Nw.: Den Norske
Revisorforening). PricewaterhouseCoopers AS has been the Group's independent auditor since 10 January 2018.
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS has not audited, reviewed or produced any report on any other information in this
Information Document.
13.4

Advisors

The Company has engaged ABG Sundal Collier ASA (business registration number 883 603 362, and registered
business address at Munkedamsveien 45, 0250 Oslo, Norway) and Nordea Bank Abp, filial i Norge (business
registration number 920 058 817, and registered business address at Essendrops gate 7, 0368 Oslo, Norway) as its
Euronext Advisors.
Advokatfirmaet Thommessen AS (business registration number 957 423 248, and registered business address at
Haakon VIIs gate 10, N-0116 Oslo, Norway) is acting as Norwegian legal counsel to the Company.
Advokatfirmaet Wiersholm AS (business registration number 981 371 593, and registered business address at
Dokkveien 1, 0250 OSLO, Norway) is acting as Norwegian legal counsel to the Euronext Advisors.
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14

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TERMS

When used in this Information Document, the following defined terms shall have the following meaning:
Admission ...................................................................

The admission to trading of the Company's shares on Euronext Growth.

DBH ...............................................................................

Database for Statistics for Higher Education

Information Document .........................................

This Information Document, dated 16 February 2021.

Appropriate Channels for Distribution ..........

Has the meaning ascribed to such term under "Important Information".

Articles of Association ..........................................

Articles of Association of the Company as of 12 February 2021.

Board of Directors ..................................................

The board of directors of the Company.

Board Members .......................................................

The members of the Board of Directors.

CEO ...............................................................................

Chief Executive Officer.

Companies Act .........................................................

Norwegian Private Limited Liability Companies Act of 13 June 1997 no. 44 (as
amended) (Nw.: Aksjeloven).

Company or Sonans ..............................................

Sonans Holding AS.

Corporate Governance Code .............................

The Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance last updated 30 October
2014.

EEA ................................................................................

European Economic Area.

EU Prospectus Regulation ...................................

Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June
2017 on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or
admitted to trading on a regulated market, and repealing Directive 2003/71/EC.

FSMA.............................................................................

Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

Financial Statements ............................................

The audited consolidated financial statements of Sonans Holding AS for the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

Foreign Corporate Shareholders .....................

Non-Resident Shareholders that are corporate shareholders (i.e. limited liability
companies and similar entities).

Foreign Individual Shareholders .....................

Non-Resident Shareholders that are individual shareholders (i.e. other shareholders
than Foreign Corporate Shareholders).

FTEs ..............................................................................

Full time employees

Group or Sonans Gruppen .................................

The Company together with its subsidiaries.

HSEQ…………………………………………………………

Health, safety, environment and quality.

IFRS…………………………………………………………

International Financial Reporting Standards

LEI .............................................................................

Legal Entity Identifier.

LIBOR .......................................................................

London Inter-bank Offered Rate.

Management .........................................................

The members of the Group's senior management.

Euronext Advisors ..............................................

ABG Sundal Collier ASA and Nordea Bank Abp, filial i Norge.

Euronext Growth

The multilateral trading facility for equity instruments operated by Oslo Børs ASA.

...............................................

Euronext Growth Admission Rules .............

Admission to trading rules for Euronext Growth as of December 2017.

Euronext Growth Content Requirements

Content requirements for Information Documents for Euronext Growth as of January
2017.

MiFID II ...................................................................

EU Directive 2014/65/EU on markets in financial instruments, as amended.

MiFID II Product Governance

MiFID II, Articles 9 and 10 of Commission Delegated Directive (EU) 2017/593

Requirements .......................................................

supplementing MiFID II and local implementing measures.

Negative Target Market ...................................

Has the meaning ascribed to such term under "Important Information".

NGAAP......................................................................

Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

NIBOR ......................................................................

Norwegian Interbank Offered Rate.

NOK ...........................................................................

Norwegian kroner, the currency of the Kingdom of Norway.

NOKUT .....................................................................

Norwegian Agency for Quality Assurance in Education

Non-Resident Shareholders ...........................

Shareholders who are not resident in Norway for tax purposes.

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders ...........

Shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain similar entities)
domiciled in Norway for tax purposes.

Norwegian Individual Shareholders ...........

Norwegian Shareholders other than Norwegian Corporate Shareholders.

Norwegian Securities Trading Act...............

The Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 29 June 2007 no. 75 (as amended) (Nw.:
verdipapirhandelloven).

Norwegian Securities Trading Regulation

The Norwegian Securities Trading Regulation of 29 June 2007 no 876 (as amended)
(Nw.: verdipapirforskriften).

Norwegian Shareholders .................................

Shareholders who are resident in Norway for tax purposes.

NTECH ......................................................................

Norwegian School of Technology

NTNU ........................................................................

Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Oslo Børs (or OSE) ............................................

Oslo Børs ASA.

Positive Target Market .....................................

Has the meaning ascribed to such term under "Important Information".
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Relevant Member State ...................................

Each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the EU
Prospectus Directive.

Shares (or Share) ..............................................

Shares in the capital of the Company, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.42, or
any one of them.

Target Market Assessment ............................

Negative Target Market together with the Positive Target Market.

UDIR .........................................................................

The Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training

USD ...........................................................................

United States Dollars, the currency of the United States.

United States (or US) .......................................

The United States of America.

US Securities Act………………………………………

US Securities Act of 1993.

VPS ............................................................................

The Norwegian Central Securities Depository (Nw.: Verdipapirsentralen).

VPS Registrar .......................................................

Nordea Bank Abp, filial i Norge.

***

55

APPENDIX A
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

15423251/1

VEDTEKTER

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

FOR

OF

SONANS HOLDING AS

SONANS HOLDING AS

Per 12. februar 2021

as per 12 February 2021

§ 1 - Foretaksnavn

§ 1 – Company name

Selskapets navn er Sonans Holding AS.

The company's name is Sonans Holding AS.

§ 2 - Foretaksnavn
Selskapets forretningskontor er i Oslo kommune.

§ 2 – Company name
The company's registered office is in the
municipality of Oslo.

§ 3 - Virksomhet

§ 3 – The company's business

Selskapets virksomhet er å drive virksomhet

The object of the company is to conduct business

innenfor utvikling og investering i andre

within development and investment in other

selskaper og alt som står i den forbindelse,

companies and everything in connection with

herunder å eie aksjer i andre selskaper.

this, including owning shares in other companies.

§ 4 - Aksjekapital

§ 4 – Share capital

Aksjekapitalen er NOK 15.201.401,88, fordelt på

The company's share capital is NOK

36.193.814 aksjer, hver pålydende NOK 0,42.

15,201,401.88, divided into 36,193,814 shares,
each with a nominal value of NOK 0.42.

Selskapets aksjer skal være registrert i et

The company's share shall be registered in a

verdipapirregister (Verdipapirsentralen i Norge

securities register (the Norwegian Central

(VPS)) og er fritt omsettelige.

Securities Depository (VPS)) and are freely
transferable.

§ 5 – Styre

§ 5 – Board of directors

Selskapets styre skal bestå av minst 3

The company's board of directors shall consist of

styremedlemmer i henhold til

at least 3 board members, as resolved by the

generalforsamlingens beslutning.

general meeting.

§ 6 - Signatur

§ 6 – Signatory rights

Selskapets firma kan tegnes av styrets leder

The chairman of the board solely or two board

alene eller to styremedlemmer i fellesskap.

members jointly have the right to sign on behalf
of the company.

§ 7 - Generalforsamling

§ 7 – General meeting

Dokumenter som gjelder saker som skal

Documents concerning matters to be considered

behandles på selskapets generalforsamling,

at the Company's general meeting, including

inkludert lovpålagte dokumenter eller vedlegg til

documents which by law must be included in or

innkallingen, behøver ikke sendes til

enclosed with the notice of the general meeting,

aksjonærene dersom dokumentene blir gjort

need not be sent to shareholders if the

tilgjengelig på selskapets hjemmeside. Til tross

documents are made available on the Company's

for det foregående, kan en aksjonær be om en

website. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a

15378139/1
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kopi av dokumenter som gjelder saker som skal

shareholder may request a copy of documents

behandles på generalforsamlingen.

which concern matters to be considered at the
general meeting.

På den ordinære generalforsamling skal følgende

The annual general meeting shall deal with and

spørsmål behandles og avgjøres:

decide the following matters:

•

Godkjennelse av årsregnskapet og

•

årsberetningen, herunder utdeling av utbytte.
•

annual report, including distribution of
dividend.

Andre saker som etter loven eller vedtektene
hører under generalforsamlingen.

Approval of the annual accounts and the

•

Any other matters, which according to law or
the articles of association fall within the
responsibilty of the general meeting.
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APPENDIX B
AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF SONANS HOLDING AS FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

15423251/1
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Directors` Report 2020
Sonans Holding AS
NATURE OF THE BUSINESS
The Sonans Group is a leading player in the education market in Norway. The Group consists of the
parent company Sonans Holding AS (“The Company”) and its subsidiaries Sonans Holdco AS, Sonans
Midco AS, Sonans Bidco AS, Sonans Gruppen AS, Sonans Privatgymnas AS, Bjørknes Høyskole AS,
Bjørknes Education AS, and Norwegian School of Technology AS. The operating companies in the Group
are Sonans Privatgymnas AS, Bjørknes Høyskole AS, Bjørknes Education AS, and Sonans Gruppen AS.
The largest entity in the Group is Sonans Privatgymnas AS, which runs 14 private candidate schools
across Norway, in addition to an Online offer. The schools are located in Oslo, Trondheim, Bergen,
Stavanger, Kristiansand. Lillestrøm, Sandvika, Fredrikstad, Hamar, Tønsberg, Drammen, Porsgrunn,
Tromsø and Bodø. Sonans Privatgymnas AS established one new school in 2020 in Tønsberg and
discontinued operations of one school in Haugesund. The Group continues to develop its high quality
education services for new students in new regions.
Bjørknes Høyskole AS is a community College based in Oslo, which also offers online studies in the fields
of psychology, health and social sciences. Bjørknes Education AS is a company facilitating transfer of
students to partner universities abroad.
Sonans Gruppen AS contains central overhead and delivers internal services to the operating entities.
Norwegian School of Technololgy AS was established on 5 November 2020 and is aiming to offer
vocational IT education. The campus will be in Oslo.
In 2020 the Group made several change to its legal structure. Sonans Gruppen AS divested Sonans
Karriere AS, a company providing counselling and courses for unemployed individuals through contracts
with regional NAV (the Norwegian Labour and Welfare Administration) offices on 3 June 2020. In
addition, two entities which were established as part of the acquisition of the Bjørknes companies in 2019,
Athomstart Invest 388 AS and Athomstart Invest 389 AS were merged into Bjørknes Høyskole AS and
Bjørknes Education AS. The dormant company Frisvold Privatgymnas AS was liquidated in 2020.
In 2020 there was significant growth in demand of the services from Sonans Privatgymnas AS and
Bjørknes Høyskole AS, both of which experienced growth in both campus students and online students.
The demand for online was especially high at both businesses.
2020 was an extraordinary year in the light of Covid-19. Sonans Privatgymnas AS and Bjørknes Høyskole
AS were able to continue offering services to their students, in a manner consistent with government
regulation and advice, and at the same time upholding high quality. Bjørknes Education AS, which sends
students abroad, experienced a reduction of revenues of NOK 0,8 million in 2020 compared to the
previous year as a result of reduced volumes in light of Covid-19.
The Company has business address in Nydalen, Oslo.

RESULT, INVESTMENT, FINANCING AND LIQUIDITY
Total revenue for the Group in 2020 was NOK 562,4 million. The Group companies Sonans Privatgymnas
AS and Bjørknes Høyskole AS experienced solid top line growth in 2020. Sonans Privatgymnas AS grew
from NOK 345,8 million in 2019 to NOK 376,4 million in 2020 and Bjørknes Høyskole AS grew from NOK
113,6 million in 2019 to NOK 135,7 million in 2020. However the consolidated top line was impacted by
the disposal of Sonans Karriere AS on 3 June 2020.
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The Group EBITDA in 2020 was NOK 124,2 million, and is impacted by a realised loss for sale of the
shares of Sonans Karriere AS. The EBITDA for the Group in 2020 had a positive development from the
2019 level of NOK 113,0 million.
The operating profit for the Group was NOK 59,7 million. Operating profit for the Company was NOK -1,1
million.
Profit before tax was NOK 17,9 million in 2020 for the Group and NOK -1,1 million for the Company.
Total investment in fixed assets for the Group in 2020 was NOK 6,5 million. The Group also invested in
intangible fixed assets totaling NOK 6,8 million in 2020, and this amount includes capitalised development
costs for new programmes at Bjørknes Høyskole AS.
Total cash and bank deposits for the Company were NOK zero as of 31.12.20 and NOK 17,9 million for
the Group. Year-end typically represents a seasonal low-point in terms of the cash balance for the
Company, and as the spring semester commences in the start of the year the companies receive tuition
fees from students. The Group also has a revolving credit factility which covers working capital
requirements, and the Company’s liquidity situation is considered to be good.
Cash flow from operations for the Group was positive by NOK 118,2 million in 2020.
Short term liabilities as of 31.12.2020 amounted to 18,8% of all debt in the Group compared with 18,9%
as of 31.12.2019. The financial position in the Group was satisfactory, including the Group’s ability to pay
short term debt at due date.
Total assets at the end of the year for the Group were NOK 961,0 million compared to NOK 1 086,6
million in 2019. The equity ratio as of 31.12.2020 was 23,4% compared to 21,1% in the previous year.

GOING CONCERN
The annual financial statements are prepared under the assumption of going concern. The assumption is
based on forecasts for 2021 and the Company's long term strategic forecast for the future years. The
Company is in a healthy economic and financial position.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
The Board of Directors expects the market development in the Group´s core business at Sonans
Privatgymnas AS to be positive in 2021. The Group will start a new centre in a new location in 2021
making the offer available for new groups of students. A high proportion of Norway´s private candidates
still chooses to prepare for their exams without any assistance from professional players like Sonans,
providing good opportunity for further growth. In the light of Covid-19 there has been an accelerated mix
shift towards online from physical schools, and we expect this trend to continue.
For Bjørknes Høyskole AS the Board of Directors expect to offer several additional bachelor programmes
at the school and a new master programme and to see a growth in student numbers. All new
programmes require approval from NOKUT, and we expectseveral of the programmes to be approved in
time for student intake in the fall of 2021.
For Norwegian School of Technology AS the board expects to launch the school with one new
programme during the autumn of 2021 subject to NOKUT approval.
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FINANCIAL RISK
The Company has no bank loan, but the Group has bank loans of NOK 595,8 million at 31.12.20. The
loans are subject to financial covenants, which the Group has had solid headroom on in 2020. The Group
has serviced it debts in accordance to agreements with its bank in 2020.
Financial risk is considered to be low. The Group has entered into an interest swap to reduce exposure to
fluctuations in interest rates.
Market risk:
Sonans Privatgymnas AS grew in 2020, and we expect the top line to grow in 2021. Sonans launched
one new school in 2020, in Tønsberg, and plans to open one new school in Ski in 2021. The Company
will continue to develop its products and is expected to continued growth in the online market.
Bjørknes Høyskole AS experienced growth in 2020 and has defined a new strategy to continue the
positive development in 2021 and beyond. The school intends to launch additional bachelor programmes
and a master programme, and expect to see positive demand for those, both for campus students and
online students.
Bjørknes Education AS is expected to have a positive development in top line, but is exposed to Covid-19
as the business requires students to travel abroad.
Norwegian School of Technology expects to address a market with buoyant demand and expects to see
a positive demand from prospective students, subject to NOKUT accreditation.
Covid-19 represents both a risk and an opportunity for the Group. In general, the adverse effect of Covid19 with increased unemployment, more difficulty for younger people to find employment, is expected to
have a positive impact on demand for education, including at Bjørknes Høyskole AS and Bjørknes
Education AS. However, periods with severe lock down and other restrictions may also change
prospective students behaviour and they may cancel or defer the choice to get education.
Market risk is considered to be low.
Credit risk:
The risk that counterparties do not have the economic ability to fulfill their obligation is deemed to be
moderate. Credit risk pr 31.12.20 amounted to zero for the Company and 39,6 million for the Group
(excluding intercompany receivables). The receivables consists mainly of prepaid expenses and
accounts receivable.
Liquidity risk:
The Group’s equity ratio as of 31.12.2020 was 23,4% compared to 21,1% in the previous year. The
increase is mainly related change in long term loans. The Company and Group assess their liquidity as
good and no measures are determined to change the liquidity risk.

WORK ENVIRONMENT AND PERSONNEL
Personnel:
In 2020 the Group had a total of 427 employees that performed 284 full-time equivalents. Same figures
for 2019 are 673 and 418 respectively, and the numbers have decreased following the disposal of
Sonans Karriere AS. The working environment is considered good, and improvement measures are
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ongoing. Such measures concern in particular facilitation of work places, with a continuous program of
assessment for improvement. The Company had no employees in 2020.
Health:
The Group recorded a total sick leave of 3,1% in 2020 compared with 2,6% in 2019. The short-term sick
leave was 1,1% (4-16 days) while long-term sick leave (more than 16 days) ended at 2.0%.
There were no reported accidents during the financial year 2020.
EQUALITY
The Goup has a goal to be a work place where full equality between women and men exists. The
personnel handbook applicable for the Group clearly prohibits discrimination in all aspects of the working
conditions. The management work to ensure that there are no differences in the treatment of employees
because of gender in relation to salary, promotions and recruitment.
The Group’s ethical guidelines clearly state that all employees should contribute to a work environment
free of discrimination based on religion, colour, gender, age, national or ethnic origin, or disabilities.
Of the Group's 427 employees 246 are women. The Group's top management consists of five men and
two women, and the women's share in the board was 0%.
The Group has examined the salary for all employees. Average salary differences for our most central job
categories show that for all employees and categories included, average pay for men is higher than
average pay for women. In categories as principals and employees in the administration, women have
higher average pay than men. In other categories men have higher average pay than women.
According to the new § 26 in the Equality and Anti-Discrimination Act the Group will implement the
following measures in 2021:
1. Perform risk analysis in regards of discrimination or other barriers to equality, including reviews of
pay conditions by reference to gender and the use of involuntary part-time work. This includes to
identify causes of eventual identified risks.
2. Discuss and implement measures suited to counteract discrimination and promote greater
equality
These efforts will be conducted in cooperation with employee representatives in all companies in the
Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL REPORTING
The Company`s activity does not have any negative environmental impact.

ANNUAL RESULT AND ALLOCATION OF THE COMPANY
The Board recommends/proposes the following allocation of net profit for 2020 of NOK -846 647

Transferred to other equity:
Total allocation:

-846 647
-846 647
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Oslo, 3rd of February 2021

Helge Midttun
Chairman of the board

Adam Frahm
Member of the board

Ulf Patrik Johnson
Member of the board

Erik Brandt
Member of the board

To the General Meeting of Sonans Holding AS

Independent Auditor’s Report
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Sonans Holding AS, which comprise:
•

The financial statements of the parent company Sonans Holding AS (the Company), which
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2020, the income statement and cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies, and

•

The consolidated financial statements of Sonans Holding AS and its subsidiaries (the Group),
which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2020, the income statement and cash
flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion:
•

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations.

•

The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards
and practices generally accepted in Norway.

•

The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting
standards and practices generally accepted in Norway.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the
Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, Brattørkaia 17B, Postboks 6365 Torgard, NO-7492 Trondheim
T: 02316, org. no.: 987 009 713 VAT, www.pwc.no
State authorised public accountants, members of The Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants, and
authorised accounting firm

Independent Auditor's Report - Sonans Holding AS

Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in
the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements
The Board of Directors (Management) are responsible for the preparation in accordance with law and
regulations, including a true and fair view of the financial statements in accordance with the
Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally accepted in Norway, and
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern. The financial statements use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as it is not likely
that the enterprise will cease operations.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.
For further description of Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
reference is made to https://revisorforeningen.no/revisjonsberetninger

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements, the going
(2)
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concern assumption and the proposed allocation of the result is consistent with the financial
statements and complies with the law and regulations.

Opinion on Registration and Documentation
Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements
(ISAE) 3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information, it is our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly
set out registration and documentation of the Company’s accounting information in accordance with
the law and bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway.

Trondheim, 3 February 2021
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS

Ronny Lysmen
State Authorised Public Accountant
(This document is signed electronically)

(3)
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Incomestatement
Sonans Holding AS
Group

Parent
2020

2019

Note

2020

2019

Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ

Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ

Revenue
Governmentgrants
Otheroperatingincome
Totalincome

10 561001443 564484102
3,10 1056848 304122
10 353827 102650
562412118 564890874

Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
1072210
1072210

Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
132313
132313

Rawmaterialsandconsumablesused
Payrollexpenses
Depreciationandamortisationexpenses
ImpairmentchargesSonansKarriereAS
LossfromsaleofSonansKarriereAS
Otheroperatingexpenses
Totaloperatingexpenses

Ͳ
8,11 259500604
1 64474085
Ͳ
2 19599319
11 159146708
502720716

4093230
288789620
66416784
56548086
Ͳ
159051053
574898773

Ͳ1072210 Ͳ132313

Operatingprofit

59691402 Ͳ10007899

15
Ͳ
Ͳ
147

Interestincome
Otherfinanceincome
Interestexpense
Otherfinancialexpense

1022005
177234
40410583
2599140

Ͳ1072342 Ͳ132403

Profitbeforeincometax

17880918 Ͳ50683210

Ͳ225695 Ͳ29128

Incometaxexpense

Ͳ846647 Ͳ103275

Netprofitandlossfortheyear

Ͳ846647 Ͳ103275
Ͳ846647 Ͳ103275

Broughtforward
Allocatedtootherequity
Netbroughtforward

191
Ͳ
263
18

692161
117838
36018611
5466699

9 21289274 13388252
Ͳ3408356 Ͳ64071462
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Balancesheet
Sonans Holding AS
Group

Parent
31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Assets

Ͳ
267158
Ͳ
267158

Ͳ
41463
Ͳ
41463

Concessions,patentsetc.
Deferredtaxasset
Goodwill
Totalintangibleassets

Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ

Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ

Capitalizedcosts
Financialleasing
Officemachineryandequipment
Totaltangibleassets

299466422
Ͳ
Ͳ
299466422

299466422
Ͳ
Ͳ
299466422

Investmentsinsubsidiaries
Investmentsinshares
Otherreceivables
TotalfinancialnonͲcurrentassets

Note

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

1
9
1

6512414
Ͳ
881829978
888342392

2139600
Ͳ
958880659
961020259

1,4
1,4
1,4

1553225
Ͳ
12224527
13777752

468101
883642
11746860
13098603

2

Ͳ
1498800
Ͳ
1498800

Ͳ
1098800
Ͳ
1098800

4

299733580 299507885

TotalnonͲcurrentassets

Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ

Accountsreceivables
Otherreceivables
Totalreceivables

4
12

23356393 33997679
16194105 42003645
39550498 76001324

24951 180831

Cashandbankdeposits

13

17846453 35377873

24951 180831

Totalcurrentassets

57396950 111379196

299758531 299688716

Totalassets

961015894 1086596858

Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ

903618944 975217662
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Balancesheet
Sonans Holding AS
Parent

Group

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Equityandliabilities

Note

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

2995029
Ͳ42495
290676040
293628574

2995029
Ͳ38395
292091151
295047785

Sharecapital
Treasurystock
Sharepremium
TotalpaidͲinequity

6,7
6,7
6

2995029
Ͳ42495
222726543
225679077

2995029
Ͳ38395
226721017
229677651

 Ͳ
 Ͳ

 Ͳ
 Ͳ

Retainedearnings
Totalretainedearnings

 Ͳ
 Ͳ

 Ͳ
 Ͳ

6

293628574 295047786

Totalequity

225679077 229677651

 Ͳ
 Ͳ
 Ͳ

 Ͳ
 Ͳ
 Ͳ

Pensionliabilities
Deferredtax
Totalprovisions

8
9

615872 800543
883518 1391370
1499390 2191913

 Ͳ
 Ͳ
 Ͳ

 Ͳ
 Ͳ
 Ͳ

Liabilitiestofinancialinstitutions
OthernonͲcurrentliabilities
TotalothernonͲcurrentliabilities

4
4

595802201 659371183
 Ͳ
33787639
595802201 693158822

608956
 Ͳ
 Ͳ
5521000
 Ͳ
6129956

 Ͳ
 Ͳ
 Ͳ
4601000
 39930
4640930

Tradecreditors
Taxpayable
Publicdutiespayable
Liabilitiestogroupcompanies
Othercurrentdebt
Totalcurrentliabilities

9
5
2,12

5557754
22791738
16079458
 Ͳ
93606278
138035228

11420145
15658676
19308587
 Ͳ
115181064
161568472

6129956 4640930

Totalliabilities

735336819 856919207

299758531 299688716

Totalequityandliabilities

961015894 1086596858

Oslo,03.02.21

HelgeMidtun
Chairmanoftheboard

ErikBrandt
Memberoftheboard

AdamFrahm
Memberoftheboard

Ulf PatrikJohnson
Memberoftheboard
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Cashflowstatement
Sonans Holding AS
Parent
2020

Group
2019

2020

2019

17880918
Ͳ15658676
147372
19488392
64474085
Ͳ
1822426
Ͳ4321313

Ͳ50683210
Ͳ9624276
Ͳ
Ͳ
66416785
56548086
320619
2880789

Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ39930 Ͳ
Ͳ503316 Ͳ132403

Cashflowfromoperations
Profitbeforeincometaxes
Taxespaidintheperiod
Gain/lossfromsaleoffixedassets
Lossonsaleofsubsidiary
Depreciation
Impairmentoffixedassets
Changeintradedebtors
Changeintradecreditors
Differencesinexpensedpensionsandpayments
in/outofthepensionscheme
Changeinotherprovisions
Netcashflowfromoperations

Ͳ184671 174184
34514978 15599224
118163511 81632201

Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ

Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ46358079
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ46358079

Cashflowfrominvestments
Proceedsfromsaleoffixedassets
Purchaseoffixedassets
Purchaseofintangibleassets
Proceeds/paymentfromotherclaims
Paymenttobuysharesinothercompanies
Paymenttobuysubsidiaries
Netcashderecogniseduponsaleofsubsidiary
Netcashflowfrominvestments

100000
Ͳ6529003
Ͳ6796940
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ1895883
Ͳ15121826

Ͳ
Ͳ5574340
Ͳ7900546
Ͳ964746
51000
Ͳ203900811
Ͳ
Ͳ218289443

920000
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ572563
347437

2600000
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
46394578
Ͳ2827399
46167179

Cashflowfromfinancing
Proceedsfromtheissuanceofintercompanyliabilities
Proceedsfromtheissuanceofnewliabilities
Repaymentofloans
Repaymentofotherloans
Netchangeinbankoverdraft
Newequityreceived
Repaymentsofequity
Netcashflowfromfinancing

Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ68001532
Ͳ51999010
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ572563
Ͳ120573105

Ͳ
129330120
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ30000000
46394578
Ͳ2827399
142897299

Ͳ1072342
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
608956

Ͳ132403
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ
Ͳ

Ͳ155879 Ͳ323303
180831 504133
24951 180831

Netchangeincashandcashequivalents
Cashandcashequivalentsatthebeginningoftheperiod
Cashandcashequivalentsattheendofthe
period

Ͳ17531420 6240057
35377873 29137815
17846453 35377873
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Sonans Holding AS Group

Notes to the accounts for 2020

Accounting principles
The annual accounts have been prepared in compliance with the Accounting Act and accounting principles
generally accepted in Norway.
The company was founded 27.10.2017. The Group was established 18.12.2017.
Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with the Accounting Act requires the use of estimates. The
application of the company's accounting principles also require management to apply assessments. Areas which to a
great extent contain such assessments, a high degree of complexity, or areas in which assumptions and estimates are
significant for the financial statements, are described in the notes.
Consolidation
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the time the control is transferred to the Group (date of acquisition).
In the consolidated accounts, shares in subsidiaries are replaced with the subsidiary's assets and liabilities. The
consolidated accounts are prepared as if the group was one economic entity. Transactions, unrealized profits and
balances between the companies in the Group are eliminated.
Acquired subsidiaries are recognized in the consolidated financial statements based on the parent company's
acquisition cost. Acquisition cost is assigned to identifiable assets and liabilities in the subsidiary, which are recognized
in the consolidated financial statements at fair value at the time of acquisition. Any excess value beyond what can be
attributed to identifiable assets and liabilities is recognized as goodwill. Goodwill is treated as a residual and recognized
in the balance sheet with the proportion observed in the acquisition transaction. Goodwill in the consolidated accounts is
depreciated over the expected useful life of the acquired assets.
The following companies are included in the Group on 31 December. All subsidiaries are 100% owned.
Parent Company:
Sonans Holding AS
Subsidiaries:
Sonans Holdco AS
Owned by subsidiaries (100%)
Sonans Midco AS
Sonans Bidco AS
Sonans Gruppen AS
Sonans Privatgymnas AS
Sonans Karriere AS (sold 03.06.2020)
Bjørknes Education AS
Bjørknes Høyskole AS
Norwegian School of Technology AS
Athomstart Invest 388 AS (merged with Bjørknes Høyskole AS 02.03.2020)
Athomstart Invest 389 AS (merged with Bjørknes Education AS 05.03.2020)
Frisvold Privatgymnas AS (liquidated 06.02.2020)
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Sonans Holding AS Group

Notes to the accounts for 2020

Revenues
Sonans provides education for private candidates and for higher education students. The services are recognised in
proportion to the work performed. Income from services are recognised at fair value of the consideration, net after
deduction of discounts and reductions.
Sonans has contracts with students for the period of the studies (e.g. one year or one semester). The amount of the
revenue to be earned is straight-forward (no variable consideration or discounts)
Classification of balance sheet items
Assets intended for long term ownership or use have been classified as fixed assets. Assets relating to the trading cycle
have been classified as current assets. Other receivables are classified as current assets if they are to be repaid within
one year after the transaction date. Similar criteria apply to liabilities. First year's installment on long term liabilities and
long term receivables are, however, not classified as short term liabilities and current assets.
Acquisition cost
The acquisition cost of assets includes the purchase cost price for the asset, adjusted for bonuses, discounts and other
rebates received, and purchase costs (freight, customs fees, public fees which are non-refundable and any other direct
purchase costs). Purchases in foreign currencies are reflected in the balance sheet at the exchange rate at the
transaction date.
Intangible assets
Goodwill has arisen in connection with the purchase of subsidiaries and is amortized over the expected lifetime.
Expenses for other intangible assets are reflected in the balance sheet as long as they provide a future financial benefit
relating to the development of an identifiable intangible asset, and this can be identified and the expenses can be
reliably measured.
Fixed assets
Fixed assets are reflected in the balance sheet and depreciated to residual value over the asset's expected useful life
on a straight-line basis. If changes in the depreciation plan occur the effect is distributed over the remaining depreciation
period. Direct maintenance of an asset is expensed under operating expenses as and when it is incurred. Additions or
improvements are added to the asset's cost price and depreciated together with the asset. The split between
maintenance and additions/improvements is calculated in proportion to the asset's condition at the acquisition date.
Leased assets are reflected in the balance sheet as assets if the leasing contract is considered a financial lease.
Investments in other companies
The cost method is applied to investments in other companies. The cost price is increased when funds are added
through capital increases or when group contributions are made to subsidiaries. Dividends received are initially taken to
income. Dividends exceeding the portion of retained equity after the purchase are reflected as a reduction in purchase
cost. Dividend/group contributions from subsidiaries are reflected in the same year as the subsidiary makes a provision
for the amount. Dividends from other companies are reflected as financial income when it has been approved.

Asset impairments
Impairment tests are carried out if there is indication that the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the estimated
recoverable amount. The test is performed on the lowest level of fixed assets at which independent cash flows can be
identified. CGU will be each legal entity, and for entities with separate school sites, each school site will be considered a
CGU. If the carrying amount is higher than both the fair value less cost to sell and recoverable amount (net present
value of future use/ownership), the asset is written down to the highest of fair value less cost to sell and the recoverable
amount.
Previous impairment charges, except writedown of goodwill, are reversed in later periods if the conditions causing the
write-down is no longer present.
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Sonans Holding AS Group

Notes to the accounts for 2020

Debtors
Trade debtors are recognised in the balance sheet after provision for bad debts. The bad debts provision is made on
basis of an individual assessment of each debtor and an additional provision is made for other debtors to cover
expected losses. Significant financial problems at the customers, the likelihood that the customer will become bankrupt
or experience financial restructuring and postponements and insufficient payments, are considered indicators that the
debtors should be written down.
Other debtors, both current and long term, are recognised at the lower of nominal and net realisable value. Net
realisable value is the present value of estimated future payments. When the effect of a writedown is insignificant for
accounting purposes this is, however, not carried out. Provisions for bad debts are valued the same way as for trade
debtors.
Foreign currencies
Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are valued at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date.
Liabilities
Liabilities, with the exception of certain liability provisions, are recognised in the balance sheet at nominal amount.
Pensions
The Group has various pension schemes. The Group has both defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans.
Defined contribution plan
With a defined contribution plan the company pays contributions to an insurance company. After the contribution has
been made the company has no further commitment to pay. The contribution is recognised as payroll expenses. Prepaid
contributions are reflected as an asset (pension fund) to the degree the contribution can be refunded or will reduce
future payments.
Defined benefit plan
A defined benefit plan is a pension scheme which is not a defined contribution plan. A defined benefit plan is a pension
scheme which defines a pension payment which an employee will receive at pension age. The pension payments are
normally dependent on one or more factors such as age, number of years in the company, and salary. The commitment
relating to the defined benefit plan on the balance sheet is the present value of the defined benefits at the balance sheet
date less fair value of the pension funds (amount paid to an insurance company), adjusted for estimated differences and
expenses relating to former period's pension earnings not recognised in the income statement. The pension
commitments are calculated annually by an independent actuary on a straight-line earning profile basis.
Taxes
The tax charge in the income statement includes both taxes payable for the period and changes in deferred tax.
Deferred tax is calculated at relevant tax rates on the basis of the temporary differences which exist between accounting
and tax values, and any carryforward losses for tax purposes at the year-end. Tax enhancing or tax reducing temporary
differences, which are reversed or may be reversed in the same period, have been eliminated. The disclosure of
deferred tax benefits on net tax reducing differences which have not been eliminated, and carryforward losses, is based
on estimated future earnings. Deferred tax and tax benefits which may be shown in the balance sheet are presented
net.
Tax reduction on group contributions given and tax on group contribution received, booked as a reduction of cost price
or taken directly to equity, are booked directly against tax in the balance sheet (offset against payable taxes if the group
contribution has affected payable taxes, and offset against deferred taxes if the group contribution has affected deferred
taxes).
Deferred tax is reflected at nominal value.
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Sonans Holding AS Group

Notes to the accounts for 2020

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement has been prepared according to the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents include cash,
bank deposits, and other short term investments which immediately and with minimal exchange risk can be converted
into known cash amounts, with due date less than three months from purchase date.
Change in contingent consideration with a retrospectively adjustment
In connection with the acquisition of Bjørknes Høyskole AS, June 2019, the initial accounting was incomplete by the end
of 2019. The measurement period is the financial year after the year of the acquisition. In 2020 Sonans Bidco AS has
retrospectively adjusted the amounts recognised at the acquisition date to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would have affected the measurement of the
amount recognised as of that date.
The contingent consideration is based on a calculated student intake at certain dates, and is payable in two instalments,
one in 2020 and one in 2021. The total amount was estimated to be NOK 60.000.000 and is adjusted retrospectively to
the acquisition date in 2019. NOK 30.000.000 as "Other current debt" and NOK 30.000.000 as "Other long term
liabilities". This has increased the booked value of "Investments in subsidiaries" in the financial statements of Sonans
Bidco AS, and "Goodwill" in the Group financial statements.
Change in classification for finance fees
Finance fees incurred when raising new loans were reported gross in the balance sheet for 2019, this should however
have been reported net with the related liabilities to financial institutions. For 2020 this is reported net, and the
comparison figures are also changed in accordance to this.
Summary of changes made to 2019
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Notes to the accounts for 2020

Sonans Holding AS Group

Note 1 Fixed Assets
1.1 Intangible assets
Group

Goodwill
Bjørknes

Goodwill Sonans Goodwill Sonans
Gruppen
Karriere

Total

243 033 873

1 205 569 128

Purchase cost at group establishment
Additions

241 095 714

Disposals

241 095 714

622 242 701

(107 695 812)
-

243 033 873

-

-

-

-

-

18 082 179

92 966 472

-

113 493 685

224 542 336

223 013 535

529 276 229

-

129 540 188

881 829 978

Purchase cost 31.12.

-

Net book value 31.12.
Write-downs in the year
Depreciations in the year
Estimated useful life
Depreciation plan

622 242 701
-

Acc. write-downs 31.12
Acc. depreciations 31.12.

107 695 812

Goodwill Sonans
Privatgymnas

12 054 786

-

-

-

-

-

-

31 112 135

2 243 663

12 151 694

20 years

20 years

20 years

20 years

Straight line

Straight line

Straight line

Straight line

(107 695 812)
1 106 372 288

57 562 278

Goodwill relates to acquisition of Sonans Gruppen, Sonans Karriere AS, Sonans Privatgymnas AS, Sonans Privatgymnas Tromsø AS, Bjørknes Education AS and
Bjørknes Høyskole AS.
The value of the goodwill is based on the expectations of long-term future earnings. The management assesses that the excess value has a longer duration than 5 years. The
management basis for this is that the companies invested in, over a long range of time have established good market positions and long-term relationships with international partners,
and that this generates positive synergies for the Group as a whole. Depreciation plan for goodwill is set to 20 years.
Sonans Karriere AS was sold in 2020 (see note 2 and 16)

Purchase cost at group establishment
Additions
Disposals
Disposals through sales
Purchase cost 31.12.
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.
Net book value 31.12.
Depreciation in the year
Estimated useful life
Depreciation plan

Concessions,
patents etc.

Sum

3 775 875
6 796 940
(3 600 875)
6 971 940
459 526
6 512 414

3 775 875
6 796 940
(3 600 875)
6 971 940
459 526
6 512 414

287 760

287 760

5 years
Straight line

5

DocuSign Envelope ID: F094D983-72C7-47F5-86C5-E7530AA3083C
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Sonans Holding AS Group

1.2 Fixed Assets
Group
Capitalized
cost
Purchase cost at group establishment
Additions
Disposals
Disposals through sales
Purchase cost 31.12.
Acc. Depreciations 31.12.
Net book value 31.12.
Depreciation in the year
Estimated useful life
Depreciation plan

Financial leases

Non-depreciation
assets

22 848 505

375 840

12 852 922
-

-

(303 183)
12 549 739
10 996 514
1 553 225

22 848 505
22 848 505
-

948 470
5-10 years
Straight line

883 642
3 years
Straight line

375 840
375 840
-

No depreciation

Tangible assets

Total

34 067 152

70 144 419

6 281 631

6 281 631

(2 823 840)
37 524 943
25 676 255
11 848 688

(3 127 023)
73 299 027
59 521 274
13 777 752

4 791 934

6 624 046

3-8 years
Straight line

Annual rental of non-financial assets
The Group has annual leases on premises correspondingly:
Tangible assets
Other tangible assets

44 310 556 (the rent is indexed)
Rental period

Yearly rental

3 years

4 214 639

Note 2 Subsidiaries
Parent company
Investments in subsidiaries are booked according to the cost method.

Subsidiaries
Sonans Holdco AS
Balance sheet value 31.12

Owned by subsidiaries
Sonans Midco AS
Sonans Bidco AS
Sonans Gruppen AS
Bjørknes Education AS
Bjørknes Høyskole AS
Norwegian School of Technology AS
Sonans Privatgymnas AS
Balance sheet value 31.12

Location

Ownership/
voting right

Oslo

100 %

Location
Oslo
Oslo

Ownership/
voting right
100 %
100 %

Equity (100 %)
299 498 070
383 196 255

Result (100 %)
(33 840)
51 302 255

Balance sheet
value
299 466 422
299 466 422

Trondheim

100 %

185 533 838

53 362 642

756 308 622

Oslo

100 %

28 600 413

1 956 213

31 961 982

Oslo
Trondheim
Trondheim

100 %
100 %
100 %

144 873 101
19 218
4 942 619

20 106 839
-20 712
82 518 798

218 136 973
60 000
229 186 988

Equity (100 %)
299 412 109

Result (100 %)
(35 946)

Balance sheet
value
299 466 422
299 466 422

1 235 654 565

Sale of Sonans Karriere AS
Sonans Karriere AS was sold in 2020. This generated a total loss for the Group amounting to NOK 19 599 319.
Earn-out regarding acquisition of Bjørknes Høyskole AS
Part of the purchase price consideration for the acquisition of Bjørknes Høyskole was an ‘Earn-out’. The potential earn-out amount is payable in two instalments, one in 2020 and one
2021 and is based on a calculated student intake at certain dates. The amount of earn out payable in 2021 is NOK 30 000 000, and is to be found as a provision under "Other current
debt".

6

DocuSign Envelope ID: F094D983-72C7-47F5-86C5-E7530AA3083C
Notes to the accounts for 2020

Sonans Holding AS Group

Note 3 Income from public grants
Public grants:
Public grants in 2020 was NOK 1 056 848.
This is a one-off grant given in 2020 from Kompetanse Norge to Bjørknes Høyskole AS.

Note 4 Receivables and liabilities
Parent company

Group
Debtors which fall due later than one year

2020

2019

2020

2019

-

-

Other receivables

-

-

-

-

Group debtors
Total

-

-

Long term liabilities which fall due later than 5 years
2020

2019

2020

-

-

Liabilities to credit institution
Total

-

-

-

-

Trade debtors

-

-

Tangible assets

-

-

-

Liabilities secured by mortgage

2019
404 200 000
404 200 000

606 203 832

674 205 364

22 145 358

32 698 561

Balance sheet value of assets placed as security

Total

8 678 965

10 059 253

30 824 323

42 757 814

The Group is financed by a loan agreement entered into by Sonans Bidco AS. This loan has three facilities and a revolving facility. Sonans Bidco AS pays regular instalments on one of
the facilities, the rest is due at termination date. There are three covenants related to this loan agreement, and this relates to cash flow ratio, interest cover ratio and leverage ratio. All
covenants are compliant as of December 31st 2020.
Guarantee in connection with entered lease contracts and withheld employee tax amounts to NOK 36 173 163.
One interest swap agreement has been entered into with Nordea. The swap agreement is off-balance sheet as hedging instruments.
Currency
NOK

Amount
50 000 000

Receive

Pay

Floating rate

Fixed rate

Maturity Market value 31.12.20
2021

-495 896

Note 5 Balance with group companies, etc.
Parent company
Other debtors
2020

2019

Group companies

5 521 000

4 601 000

Total

5 521 000

4 601 000
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Note 6 Shareholders equity
Parent company
Share capital

Equity changes in the year

Equity 1.1.
Purchase of treasury stock

Share premium

Treasury
stock

Total

292 091 151
-568 463

-38 395
-4 100

295 047 786
-572 563

2 995 029
-

Profit for the year

-

Equity 31.12.

2 995 029

-846 647

-

290 676 040

-42 495

-846 647
293 628 574

Group
Equity changes in the year

Share capital

Equity 31.12.19

2 995 029

Changes*
Equity 01.01.20

2 995 029

Share premium
228 221 017
-1 500 000

Treasury
stock

Retained
earnings

-38 395
-

Total
-

-1 500 000

226 721 017

-38 395

-

229 677 651
-572 563

Purchase of treasury stock

-

-568 463

-4 100

-

Other equity changes

-

-17 654

-

-

Profit for the year

-

Transfer from share premium
Equity 31.12.

2 995 029

231 177 651

-

-3 408 356
222 726 543

-

-3 408 356

-

3 408 356

-42 495

-

-17 654
-3 408 356
225 679 077

* See Accounting principles, and the paragraphs "Change in contingent consideration with a retrospectively adjustment" and "Summary of changes made to 2019".

Note 7 Share capital and shareholder information
Parent company
Share capital

Number

Per value

Capitalised

A-shares
B-shares

4 989 750
294 513 172

0,01
0,01

49 898
2 945 132

Total

299 502 922

0,01

2 995 029

The preference shares (B-shares) are given preferred rights to dividends. The preferred dividend for each preference share
is calculated at a rate of 12 % of the base amount. The parent company is only permitted to pay a dividend if it has sufficient distributable reserves,
determined in accordance with chapter 8 of the Norwegian Private Limited Companies Act.
The contingent non-booked liability related to this is NOK 110 474 022. The A-shares are not entitled to dividends until the preference shares
have received their preferred returns.
The B-shares do not have voting rights.
Shareholders

A-shares

B-shares

EMK Capital Partners LP
Erik Brandt (member of the board)
EMK Capital Partners GP CO-inv LP
Aina Gerner-Mathisen
Visento AS (fully owned by Helge Midttun, chairman of the board)
Tind Capital AS
Sonans Holding AS
Shareholders with less than 1%

4 086 374
247 500
163 626
60 000
75 000
50 000
307 250

262 368 275
880 931
10 505 700
3 613 416
5 000 000
3 839 469
8 305 381

Total

4 989 750

294 513 172

Total
266 454 649
1 128 431
10 669 326
3 673 416
5 075 000
50 000
3 839 469
8 612 631
299 502 922

Interest

Share of votes

89,0 %
0,4 %
3,6 %
1,2 %
1,7 %
0,0 %
1,3 %
2,9 %

81,9 %
5,0 %
3,3 %
1,2 %
1,5 %
1,0 %
0,0 %
6,2 %

100,0 %

100,0 %

Sonans Holding AS has in 2020 bought 410 000 own shares at a price of NOK 572 563.
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Note 8 Pensions
The Group has pension schemes which cover a total of 1 person. The Group has a closed group pension scheme, and a defined-contribution scheme which covers the remaining
employees. The commitment related to the group pension scheme is covered through an insurance company. The defined-contribution scheme is financed from the Group's operations.
The defined-contribution scheme is expensed on an ongoing basis.

The Group's pension schemes meet the requirements of the law on compulsory occupational pension.
Persons covered by the schemes
Defined-benefit scheme

Income statement

Present value of pensions earned this year
Interest expense on the pension commitment
Estimate differences booked
Administrative fee
Social security fees
Total net pension expenses

Balance sheet
Estimated pension commitment
Estimated pension funds
Estimated pension commitment 31.12.
Estimate differences/plan changes not booked, including social security fees
Net pension commitment 31.12

Active
1

Pensioners
0

2020

2019

291 401
5 245
105 819
42 239
55 461
500 165

255 153
6 634
7 282
59 183
45 256
373 508

2020

2019

-4 467 876
2 267 000
-2 200 876

-5 802 745
2 623 000
-3 179 745

1 585 004
-615 872

2 379 202
-800 543

2020
1,50 %
2,00 %
1,75 %
1,75 %
2,40 %

2 019
1,80 %
2,25 %
1,75 %
2,00 %
4,20 %

Financial assumptions:
Discount rate
Estimated salary increase
Estimated pension increase
Estimated social security base figure adjustment
Expected return on funds
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Note 9 Tax
Calculation of deferred tax/deferred tax benefit
Group

Parent company
2020

2019

2020

2019

(3 894 760)

(5 942 721)

(317 062)

(1 015 074)

Temporary differences
-

-

Tangible assets

-

-

Receivables

-

-

Financial lease

-

-

Other temporary differences

-

-

-

(275 069)

9 785 759

13 946 687
6 713 823

Net temporary differences

5 573 937

(1 214 356)

(188 470)

Tax losses carried forward

(1 560 051)

(1 214 356)

(188 470)

Other not used differences
Basis for deferred tax in the balance sheet

(267 158)

(41 463)

22 % deferred tax

883 518

1 391 370

(267 158)

(41 463)

Correction of previous year misstatements
Deferred tax/asset

883 518

1 391 370

4 013 886
-

(389 412)
6 324 411
-

Basis for the tax expense, change in deferred tax and tax payable
Basis for tax payable
(1 072 342)
46 456
(1 025 886)
(1 025 886)

(132 403)
(132 403)
(132 403)

-

-

-

-

Result before taxes

17 880 916

(50 683 212)

Permanent differences

71 973 050

121 576 503

Basis for the tax expense for the year

89 853 966

70 893 291

8 854 491

63 230

98 708 457

70 956 521

Change in temporary differences
Use of tax losses carried forward
Basis for payable taxes in the income statement
Basis for payable taxes in the income statement
discontinued operations - Sonans Karriere
+/- Group contributions received/given
Taxable income (basis for payable

(1 025 886)

(132 403)

taxes in the balance sheet)

(225 695)

(29 128)

Payable tax on this years result

-

Adjustment in respect of priors

2 800 442
-

-

101 508 899

70 956 521

21 715 861

15 610 435

Components of the income tax expense
-

-

-

(225 695)

(29 128)

Total payable tax

21 715 861

15 610 435

(225 695)

(29 128)

Change in deferred tax
Tax expense (22 % of taxable income)

(426 588)
21 289 274

-2 222 182
13 388 252

22 577 336
214 392
22 791 738

15 658 676
15 658 676

Payable taxes in the balance sheet
-

-

Payable tax (22 % of basis)
Tax effect of group contribution
Adjustment from prior year
Payable tax in the balance sheet
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Note 10 Total income
Parent company
2020

2019

Group
2020

Activity distribution

-

-

Services to government institution

-

-

Education

-

-

Government grants

-

-

Other income
Total

2020

2019

2019

43 795 536

156 927 177

517 205 907

407 556 925

1 056 848

304 122

353 827
562 412 118

102 650
564 890 874

Geographical distribution

2020

2020

-

-

Norway

562 412 118

564 890 874

-

-

Other countries
Sum

562 412 118

564 890 874

Note 11 Payroll expenses, number of employees, remunerations, loans to employees, etc.
Parent company
2020
-

2019

Group
2020

Payroll expenses

-

Salaries
Social security fees

-

-

Pension expenses

-

-

Other remuneration
Sum

217 247 316
29 255 567

2019
236 077 318
35 935 532

8 730 638

9 566 253

4 267 082
259 500 604

7 210 517
288 789 620

The number of full-time equivalents in the accounting year has been 0 in the parent company and 284 in the Group.

Remuneration to executives

General
manager

Board

Salaries/board fee

2 232 580

Pension expenses

11 039

-

9 558

-

Other remunerations

512 500

The general manager and the board are paid from Sonans Gruppen AS.
No loans/securities have been granted to the general manager, Board chairman or other related parties.
The general manager has a bonus agreement dependent on EBITDA performance of the Group for the financial year 2020. In addition, a part of the bonus is subject to achieving
several individual objectives.

Expensed audit fee

Statutory audit
Other assurance services
Tax advisory fee (incl. technical assistance with tax return)
Other assistance (incl. technical assistance with financial statements)
Total (incl VAT)

Parent company

Group

100 629
0

1 088 996
51 426

26 250

170 760

696 456
823 335

1 532 363
2 843 545

Other assistance to the parent company and the Group includes fees to the auditor in relation to their assistance with an ongoing IFRS conversion process.
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Note 12 Specification of other receivables and other current liabilities
Group

Parent company
2020

2019

Other receivables

2020

2019

-

-

Prepaid expenses

16 151 098

17 548 347

-

-

Other debtors
Total other receivables

43 006
16 194 105

24 455 298
42 003 645

Parent Company

Group

2020

2019

Other current debt

2020

2019

-

39 930

Other current debt

16 596 798

32 426 747

-

-

Holiday pay

16 692 931

24 239 819

-

-

Earn-out

30 000 000

30 000 000

-

39 930

Net prepaid tuition fees*
Total current debt

30 316 553
93 606 278

28 514 498
115 181 064

* Net prepaid tuition fees are the net amount of prepaid tuition fees NOK 82 214 017 and earned not invoiced fees NOK 51 897 464.

Note 13 Restricted bank deposits, overdraft facilities
The Group has NOK 70 000 0000 in granted overdraft facilities. At year end NOK 70 000 000 of this grant is unused.
The Group has a bank guarantee for withheld employee taxes that covers the amount held on this account.

Note 14 Related-party transactions
Parent company
Balance with group companies is disclosed in note 5.
Related-party transactions:

2020

Purchases of goods and services

150 000

Purchases of services from group companies

2019
-

-

-

-

-

Financial income and expenses
Interest income from group companies

Note 15 Covid-19
2020 was an extraordinary year in the light of Covid-19. Sonans Education and Bjørknes Høyskole were able to continue offering services to their students, in a manner consistent with
government regulation and advice, and at the same time upholding high quality.

Note 16 Sale of subsidiary
Frisvold Privatgymnas AS was liquidated in 2020. Both the contribution to the Group's profit and loss and balance sheet, have been immaterial.
Sonans Karriere AS was sold in 2020 (see note 2 for information about the loss for the Group).
01.01 - 03.06.2020

2019

Total income

44 004 919

156 928 177

Total operating expenses

46 797 930

152 485 068

Operating profit

-2 793 011

4 443 109

Net finance
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense
Net profit and loss for the year

7 432

11 402

-2 800 443

4 431 707

-616 097

989 862

-2 184 346

3 441 845
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